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Business Confidential Information

In this Submission, including its Exhibits, Japan has placed Business Confidentia
Information in brackets ("[]"). The bracketed information is highly confidential. This information is
provided solely for the purpose of fully informing the Panel of the factual details of the Hot-Rolled
Stedl investigations. Japanese respondents would be seriously harmed if this information were used
for any other purpose or were made available to anyone outside the Pandl, the Secretariat officias
assisting the Panel, and the officia legal team of the United States and the third parties — especialy
if this information were made available to any of Japanese respondents competitors. Japan therefore
respectfully requests that this information be protected and that it be omitted from the Panel's report.
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INTRODUCTION

1. Japan has demonstrated through its factual and legal presentations in this proceeding that the
United States has violated numerous provisions of the Agreement on Implementation of Article VI of
GATT 1994 ("the AD Agreement”) as well as Article X of GATT 1994. The United States has
attempted to deflect Japan’'s substantive claims with faulty preliminary objections, convenient
interpretations of the relevant standards of review, and misconceived alegations that Japan’'s case
relies on conspiracy theories. These devices, however, cannot overcome the strength of Japan’s legal
clams.

2. This Second Submission focuses on the substance of these clams. We do not repeat here the
political context in which the United States made the decisions in this case. We instead merely wish
to remind the Panel that the context is important to discerning whether the United States has met its
obligations to conduct its investigations in an objective, unbiased, uniform, impartial, and reasonable
manner — standards that are critical to any case under the AD Agreement and Article X:3(a) of GATT
1994.

3. This case presents a number of actions and policies undertaken by the US authorities that violate
the AD Agreement, asfollows:

Facts Avallable: USDOC has converted the "facts available' provisons of the AD
Agreement from an investigative gap-filling tool into an adversarial weapon to be used
against foreign respondents. The genera practice of using adverse facts available to punish
respondents is inconsistent on its face with both the letter and spirit of Article 6.8 and Annex
Il of the AD Agreement. Further, the application of the policy in this case demongtrates its
abusive nature. KSC was punished for its falure to find a way to force a petitioner to
cooperate in the investigation for the benefit of a respondent. NSC and NKK were punished
for good faith misunderstandings in their initid questionnaire responses, which were
ultimately corrected before the closing of the factual record. The US authorities misapplied
Paragraph 7 of Annex |l and ignored the obligation of Article 6.13.

All Others Rate: USDOC interprets Article 9.4 as if it includes the word "entirely,” and thus
caculates the "al other rate’ applicable to companies not investigated based on margins
tainted by "facts available” What the United States could not achieve in the negotiations of
the Uruguay Round, the United States unilaterally adopts as its interpretation of the treaty
text.

Affiliated Parties: USDOC applies an arbitrary and unfair 99.5 percent test to exclude nearly
al low-priced home market sdes to affiliates while excluding high-priced sales to affiliates
only if they are 'aberrationaly high." This particular USDOC policy so clearly violates
Article 2.4 that not one of the five third parties in this case defends this policy, and four of the
five parties specifically condemn the policy. Also, the United States uses downstream prices
to caculate norma value, without appropriate adjustment, in direct contravention of the
requirements of Article 2.2 to use a respondent’s available home market sales or other
specified alternatives.

Critical Circumstances. USDOC rushed to judgment to make an early finding of critica
circumstances long before it had sufficient evidence within the meaning of Article 10.6 to do
so. USDOC formalized this approach of relying aimost exclusively on the petition itself in a
new policy bulletin that ensures this problem will repesat itself.

Captive Production: The statutory provision on captive production impermissibly requires the
USITC to focus primarily on one segment, at the expense of the other segment and the
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domestic industry as a whole. The statute does not smply add another factor, or alow
appropriate consideration of all factors. The statute instead significantly skews the analysisin
favour of one segment. This analytic approach thus violates the explicit requirement in
Articles 3 and 4 for injury determinations to be based on the domestic industry as awhole.

Causation: USITC impermissibly manipulated the periods examined to justify its outcome.
Rather than objectively determine the facts, USITC smply ignored the logical inconsistency
in its finding -- that the domestic industry increased its shipments and improved financial
performance even with an increase in imports. Such self selection does not meet the
requirement of Article 3.1 for an "objective examination,” or Article 3.5 for a determination
that subject imports themselves caused the materid injury. USITC aso inadequately
considered aternative causes, and thus violated the Article 3.5 requirement not to attribute
other causes to the imports being investigated. Selective discussion of favourable facts and
ignorance of unfavourable facts smply does not meet the requirements of Article 3.

4. Beyond these AD Agreement violations, the US authorities also breached their obligations under
GATT 1994 Article X:3(a) to administer the anti-dumping law in a "uniform, impartial, and
reasonable" manner. These obligations exist independently of the AD Agreement, and the Panel
should therefore address these separate and independent claims. They are summarized as follows:

Notwithstanding USDOC' s application of punitive adverse facts available for far less severe
actions by respondents, USITC accepted corrected questionnaire responses from domestic
companies filed well after the initial deadline but before the closing of the factual record. The
United States pretends this asymmetry does not exist, and in doing so has the audacity to
claim that the domestic companies made "timely" responses citing the USITC version of the
very regulation that USDOC claims did not apply to the foreign companies.

Notwithstanding an existing and uniformly followed regulation, the authorities conveniently
overlooked clerical errors the correction of which would benefit foreign respondents, even
though there was no dispute at all over the clerical error or the applicability of the regulation
at issue.

Notwithstanding a longstanding practice of not accelerating cases, particularly complex cases,
the authorities pushed this case through in record time. Instead of taking more time to
proceed carefully, the United States rushed to finish early.

Notwithstanding an existing customs policy that would have easily alowed the authorities to
collect retroactive duties should they prove necessary later in the case, the authorities instead
capitulated to domestic industry demands to craft anew policy. The authorities then rushed to
apply the new policy in this case regardless of the state of the factual record.

Notwithstanding a long history of analyzing three-year trends, USITC chose to focus on only
two-years of the investigation period so as to avoid the logical inconsistencies of considering
all three years.

Although al of these decisions reflect the degree of political pressure on the US authorities, none of
these decisions complies with the obligation for "uniform, impartial, and reasonable" administration
of the law.

5. This caseis very much about respect for the rule of law, and respect for international obligations.
The Panel decision in this case will show whether the obligations reflected in the AD Agreement and
in GATT 1994 Article X:3(a) are meaningful or not. If there are any limits on the discretion that
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administering authorities enjoy, then this case presents multiple violations of those limits that this
Panel should discipline.

l. PRELIMINARY OBJECTIONS

6. The United States made preliminary objections concerning certain evidence submitted by Japan as
well as Japan’s claim against the US general practice of applying adverse facts available. We address
only the former here; the latter is addressed separately in the section concerning facts available.

7. Japan believes that its letter of 10 August 2000 and its answers to Panel Question 3 demondtrate
that al the factual information in this case are properly before the Panel. There are three kinds of
claims in this proceeding: (a) "as applied” claims under the AD Agreement, (b) "on its face" clams
under the AD Agreement, and (C) claims under GATT 1994 Article X:3(a). The issue raised by the
United States in its preliminary objections to certain evidence is the extent to which Article 17.5(ii) of
the AD Agreement limits the factual evidence that the Panel can consider with respect to these three
types of clams.

8. The United States has conceded that "on its face" claims are not limited by Article 17.5(ii) of the
AD Agreement.’ Japan agrees. Indeed, "on its face" claims could not be limited by Article 17.5(ii)
because the claims are not based solely upon what an authority did in a specific investigation.

9. The same logic applies to Japan’s Article X claims. Article X claims are based on a different set
of facts than "as applied" claims under the AD Agreement” Articde X is, inter alia, a comparative
task in which the Panel compares the treatment of one party to another party (such as petitioners
versus respondents), or the treatment of the respondents in this investigation to the treatment of
respondents in other US investigations in terms of the administration of alaw, regulation, or practice.
Therefore, contrary to the US assertion in its response to Panel Question 23, it makes perfect logical
sense that a specific decision might not substantively violate the obligations of the AD Agreement,
but that the administration of rules leading to that decision violates Article X of GATT 1994.
Although a decision in isolation might not look biased for AD Agreement purposes, when the
administration leading to that decision is compared to other instances, the partiality often becomes
crystal clear’

1 US Response to Panel Question 39. The United States later in its response to Panel Question 39
makes a hypocritical statement that should be ignored. After asserting that extra-record evidence can be used to
support "on its face" claims, the US encourages the Panel to ignore Japan’s expert evidence from a statistician
because Japanese exporters should have submitted it to USDOC during the investigation. The Japanese
exporters vociferously argued against the 99.5% test in the original investigation. Japan should not now be
punished in making its "on its face" claim for the fact that perhaps the exporters did not find it worth the
resources to hire an expert statistician for an AD investigation before a biased authority that had used this
practice in nearly every prior case. Expert testimony on the "fairness" of a particular methodology, however, is
quite appropriate before a WTO panel considering the proper interpretation of the word "fair" under the AD
Agreement.

2 The United States incorrectly suggests that the only contested evidence relevant to Japan's Article X
claims is two newspaper articles. All of the newspaper articles that provide background on the case and
illustrate the biased and zealous manner in which the domestic industry, Congress and the US AD authority
were operating help explain why the US AD authority resorted to non-uniform, partial and unreasonable
administrations of itsrules. See Exhibits JP-16-23, 25-27, 32(a)—(€), 37, 38. In addition to these articles, in its
Article X claims Japan also references NKK's good-faith behaviour in trying to respond to USDOC's weight
conversion factor. See Japan’s First Submission, para. 317. Inthisway, Mr. Porter’s affidavit is also relevant to
Japan’sArticle X claims. See Exhibit JP-28.

3 The difference between Japan’s GATT 1994 Article X claims and its claims under the AD Agreement
isset forth in greater detail in the section of this submission dealing with Article X.

* A perfect example is USDOC's refusal to correct its clerical error that inflated NKK’s preliminary
margin by 12 percentage points. While the decision not to correct an error before the Final Determination might
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10. With respect to the "as applied" claims, this so-called "extra-record” evidence is essentia for the
Pand to complete its task in this case. Article 17.6(i) requires the Panel to determine whether the
authorities properly established facts and undertook an objective and unbiased evaluation of the facts.
Fitting together with it, DSU Article 11 requires panels to make an "objective assessment” of the
matters before it. The Panel cannot determine whether the facts were properly established and
objectively assessed without considering the context of those facts® Therefore, the Panel is obligated
under WTO rules to consider al proffered evidence that will shed light on these important issues.

11. Moreover, within the "as applied” claims, Japan makes both legal and factua claims. In this
regard, the expert opinion of the statisticians does not present any new or extra-record facts. Rather, it
is an expert opinion based on record facts that the USDOC arm’s length test is unfair. The affidavits
of respondents counsel, contrary to presenting new factua information, for the most part document
margin impact based on record facts There is no bass, therefore, upon which to exclude the
statements. The affidavits are explicit in demonstrating step-by-step how the affiants reached their
conclusions based on the record information or information improperly expunged from the record by
USDOC.

12. Newspaper articles are provided () to give the Panel context when it examines whether the US
authority properly established facts or assessed facts in an objective and unbiased manner® and (b) to
summarize information for the Panel.” The articles demonstrate the extent of lobbying exerted by the
domestic stedl industry in this case on Congress which then exerted pressure on USDOC. The articles
highlight the zealous nature of the actions taken by the United States in this case. The articles place
certain extraordinary decisions made by USDOC in context so that the Panel can determine whether
an objective and unbiased authority would have reached these decisions. There was no reason for the
Japanese exporters in the underlying investigation to submit these articles. The articles are
themselves about the investigation and USDOC’ s conduct during the investigation.

13. Asaresult, al of the evidence submitted by Japan is worthy of the Panel’ s consideration.

not create a substantive AD Agreement violation, when compared to the fact that USDOC maintains a consistent
practice of correcting these significant errorsin other cases, the bias and partiality becomesclear.

® Article 17.5(ii) does not say the Panel should rely only upon evidence before the authority. The
provision operates in conjunction with DSU Article 11 which obliges the Panel to make an objective assessment
of al of thefacts. Thereisno conflict between Article 17.5(ii) of the AD Agreement and Article 11 of the DSU.
The Appellate Body has been very clear that Article 17 of the AD Agreement does not trump the broader rights
and obligations of panels and members. See United States—Anti-Dumping Act of 1916, 28 Aug. 2000,
WT/DS136/AB/R, WT/DS162/AB/R, a para 74 ("U.S—1916 Act") and Guatemala—Anti-Dumping
Investigation Regarding Portland Cement from Mexico, adopted 2 Nov. 1998, WT/DS60/AB/R, at para. 65-67
(" Guatemala—Cement'). Moreover, the Appellate Body has established that panels have broad authority to
look at evidence and determine its probative value, specifically so that panels can discharge their Article 11
obligations. See United States—Import Prohibition of Certain Shrimp and Shrimp Products, adopted
6 Nov. 1998, WT/DS58/AB/R, at paras. 104-106 ("U.S—Shrimp"). The Appellate Body stated:

Thethrust of Articles 12 and 13, taken together, is that the DSU accords to a panel established
by the DSB, and engaged in a dispute settlement proceeding, ample and extensive authority to undertake and to
control the process by which it informs itself both of the relevant facts of the dispute and of the legal norms and
principles applicable to such facts. That authority, and the breadth thereof, is indispensably necessary to enable
apanel to discharge its duty imposed by Article 11 of the DSU to "make an objective assessment of the matter
before it, including an objective assessment of the facts of the case and the applicability of and conformity with
the relevant covered agreements.” (emphasis added in the report)

® See Exhibits JP-16-23, 25-27, 32(a)—(e), 37, 38.

’ See Exhibits JP-32(a)—(e), 33, 36. Asfor Exhibit JP-34(a), if an exporter referred the authority to
the article, then it is on the record and Japan can use that Article before the Panel. It does not matter if the
exporters provided copies of the Article or not.
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I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. THE DISPUTE SETTLEMENT UNDERSTANDING ("DSU")

14. The United States misunderstands the operation of the appropriate standards of review in this
case. Although the AD Agreement does indeed contain a unique standard of review,® Article 11 of
DSU does not lose its meaning as we described in Paragraph 10, and Japan has not brought this case
only under the AD Agreement. Japan has raised simultaneous claims under GATT 1994 regarding the
US administration of its anti-dumping rules that deserve equa attention and consideration by the
Pand. Therefore, Article 11 of the DSU is the applicable standard of review for Japan’'s Article X
clamsunder GATT 1994.

15. The United States has effectively conceded this fact. Their only argument pertaining to the DSU
standard of review is to assert, with absolutely no support, that Article X:3 of GATT 1994 smply
cannot apply to a Member’s anti-dumping actions.” By focusing only upon the standard of review
under the AD Agreement, the United States has effectively conceded that Article 11 of the DSU
controls the Panel’ s standard and scope of review with respect to Japan’s GATT 1994 Article X clam
—aclam that is separate and independent of the claims under the AD Agreement. In this way, the
Panel should remain mindful of its obligation to consider al facts and evidence under Article 11 of
the DSU. The United States cannot hide behind an alleged deferential standard of review contained in
the AD Agreement to limit the Panel’ s review over the entire case.

B. THE AD AGREEMENT

1. This case fits squar ely within the factual standard of review

16. In theory, the parties are in agreement as to the operation of the standard of review. Japan was
explicit in its First Submission that it is not asking the Pand to reweigh the specific facts in this
case.!® Rather, each factual claim is based on either the improper establishment of the facts (including
the failure to consider essential facts) or the biased and non-objective evaluation of the facts.

17. Where the parties disagree sharply, however, is the level of deference the Pand is to pay to the
factual conclusions of a national authority. Although Japan agrees that the Panel should not reweigh
the facts, the first sentence of Article 17.6(i) specifically directs the Panel to examine whether the
national authority properly established the facts and evaluated the facts in an objective and unbiased
manner. This consideration requires absolutely no deference on the part of the Pandl. If the Panel
finds instances in which the national authority improperly established facts or failed to evaluate the
facts in an objective and unbiased manner, then those determinations fail to meet the basic
requirements of the AD Agreement.

18. The United States also misstates the "scope” of the Panel’s factua review.'' First, Japan's
challenges in this case are not limited to only the hot-rolled investigation. To the extent, therefore,
that Japan has made "on its face" chalenges, Article 17.5(ii) isirrelevant. Second, contrary to the US

8 Oddly, in footnote 97 in Part A of its First Submission, the United States claims that this unique
standard of review also applies to matters pertaining to subsidies and countervailing measures. This claim is
false. The United States recently lost this argument before the WTO Appellate Body in United States—
Imposition of Countervailing Duties on Certain Hot-Rolled Lead and Bismuth Carbon Seel Products
Originating in the United Kingdom, adopted 7 June 2000, WT/DS138/AB/R, at paras. 50-51.

 US First Submission, para. A-88 (emphasis added). The obvious applicability of GATT 1994
Article X to anti-dumping measures is discussed in more detail in the section of this submission covering
Japan’s actual Article X claims.

10 Japan’s First Submission, para. 49.

1 Japan’s detailed arguments on this topic are presented in Japan’s 10 August 2000 Response to US
Preliminary Objections.
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view, Article 17.5(ii) of the AD Agreement does not limit review to the "administrative record."
Importantly, the Panel must take into account facts that are "placed” before an authority, but not
placed on the actua record. The US attempt to limit the scope of the Panel’s review would, in fact,
preclude the Pandl’ s ability to carry out its factua standard of review in which it must examine the US
authority’ s initial establishment of the facts, and consider whether the authority evaluated the facts in
an unbiased and objective manner.

2. The United States distortsthe legal standard of review

(a@ No interpretation should escape the disciplines of the Vienna Convention, even under
Article 17.6(ii)

19. In advocating unlimited deference to Member’s interpretations of the AD Agreement, the United
States would have the Pandl allow the United States to interpret the AD Agreement at its own will.
Article 17.6(ii) stipulates that panels must interpret the anti-dumping provisions in accordance with
"customary rules of interpretation of public international law,” a clear reference to the Vienna
Convention.™® Nearly every pandl and Appellate Body decision now refers to the Vienna Convention
as the primary set of rules that govern treaty interpretation in the WTO context. The deliberate
insertion into Article 17.6(ii) of a reference to the customary rules of interpretation requires an
interpretation "in good faith in accordance with the ordinary meaning to be given to the terms of the
treaty in their context and in the light of its object and purpose" as stipulated in Article 31 of the
Vienna Convention®* And Article 32 of the Vienna Convention instructs an interpreter as to how to
ded with ambiguity, if any, by referring to the treaty’s supplementary materials.  Faithfully
interpreted, Article 17.6(ii) thus bars Members from arbitrarily interpreting the provisions of the AD
Agreement in away that neglects their object and purpose.™®  Accordingly, the attempts of the United
States to justify its interpretation by referring to the second sentence of Article 17.6(ii) must fail.
When the Vienna Convention and the language of Article 17.6(ii) are read together, in their entirety,
they do not give a Member carte blanche authority to equate ambiguity with multiple interpretations
as the United States attempts here.

20. Even when the Panel finds a provision subject to more than one interpretation, that interpretation
must still be "permissible” on the basis of good faith interpretation as elaborated above™ The Panel
does not owe unrestrained deference to a Member’'s lega interpretation of treaty text. Rather, the
Panel must scrutinize the permissibility of that interpretation in light of the Vienna Convention rules
of treaty interpretation and a Member’ s obligation to implement the WTO Agreements in good faith.

12 5ee Steven P. Croley and John H. Jackson, WTO Dispute Procedures, Standard of Review, and
Deference to National Governments, 90 Am. J. Int’l L. 193, 200 (1996).

13 Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties, art. 31.1 (emphasis added).

14 |n footnote 105 in Part A of its First Submission, the United States challenges the opinion of two
GATT scholars that the anti-dumping standard of review allows for only one permissible interpretation. Far
from recognizing the similarities between the standard of review and US law, the scholars point out the
significant differences between the two bodies of law. Moreover, they explain the negotiating history of
Article 17.6(ii), which evolved from a US proposed standard that recognized the use of multiple interpretations
to the current and more limited standard of review that relies first and foremost on the Vienna Convention. See
Steven P. Croley and John H. Jackson, WTO Dispute Procedures, Sandard of Review, and Deference to
National Governments, 90 Am. J. Int'l L. 193, 209-211 (1996). The United States is simply trying to achievein
dispute settlement what it failed to achieve in negotiations. See Gary N. Horlick and Peggy A. Clarke,
"Standards for Panels Reviewing Anti-dumping Determinations under the GATT and WTO," in 41 Studies in
International Economic Law: International Trade Law and the GATT/WTO Dispute Settlement System 315,
317-320 (Ernst-Ulrich Petersmann ed. 1997), which analyzes the consistent rejection by WTO Members of US
proposals regarding the anti-dumping legal standard of review during the Uruguay Round. (Attached as
Exh. JP-92).

15 The Government of Japan endorses the argument made by the Government of Brazil that the concept
of "good faith" serves as an important tool of interpretation that should guide the Panel in determining the limits
of "permissible.” See Brazil’s Third Party Submission, paras. 5-11.
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(b) The United States misstates the doctrine of "subsequent practice’

21. Findly, the United States mideads the Panel as to the appropriate international practice under
Article 31(3)(b) of the Vienna Convention governing subsequent practice. In this Article,
"subsequent practice” must be those which establish "the agreement of the parties."*® With no citation
whatsoever, the United States whittles down this tool of interpretation to require only that "a number
of signatories to the Agreement" have adopted the practice’

22. Using this faulty premise, throughout its submission the United States alleges that other Members
have interpreted the AD Agreement in a manner identical to the United States. In this submission,
however, Japan will point out that many Members do not interpret the AD Agreement in the same
manner as the United States, thereby nullifying any potential for the establishment of a "subsequent
practice” under the accepted Vienna Convention interpretive tool. The concept of "subsequent
practice" is about agreement and a concordance of actions; it is not about codifying varied practices or
the practices of only afew dominant Members.

1. FACTSAVAILABLE

23. Japan’s argument on facts available is that not only the application of relevant provisions of the
US Statute in this case, but dso USDOC's general practice of applying adverse facts available,
violates the AD Agreement. Although the US datute itself may or may not be consstent with the
Agreement, the general policies and methodologies with which USDOC consistently applies it are
definitely not. Rather than use the facts available provisions of the AD Agreement as an investigative
tool to find reliable information to fill gaps in information -- regardless of how those gaps are created
-- USDOC uses them as a mechanism to punish respondents. Nowhere does the AD Agreement

support such apolicy.

24. The extreme nature of USDOC's facts available practice emerges in the arbitrary treatment of
KSC, NSC, and NKK in the hot-rolled steel case. Each company cooperated with USDOC's
information requests. None of them refused to provide information; none of them refused on-site
verification. When they had trouble reporting information, they informed USDOC of their difficulty.
The United States itself admits the Japanese companies were "substantialy or largely cooperative' in
this case'® Yet in the face of such facts, the United States now portrays them as the "bad secretary."

25. The facts -- properly established and objectively evaluated -- belie this offensive analogy. KSC
faced a situation in which USDOC has in the past applied specia circumspection: USDOC required it
to supply data from an affiliated US customer whose role as a petitioner in the case placed it odds
with KSC'sinterest in providing USDOC with complete information. USDOC did not even consider
KSC's good faith attempts to comply with USDOC's requests notwithstanding this conflict of
interest. Rather than look for areliable alternative, USDOC resorted to facts that would punish KSC.

26. USDOC aso punished NSC and NKK. In response to a good faith misunderstanding by NSC
about what information it had, and a good faith misunderstanding by NKK about what USDOC

18 The Appellate Body has explained that, "the essence of subsequent practice in interpreting a treaty
has been recognized as a ‘ concordant, common and consistent’ sequence of acts or pronouncements which is
sufficient to establish a discernable pattern implying the agreement of the parties regarding its interpretation.”
Japan—Taxes on Alcoholic Beverages, adopted 1 Nov. 1996, WT/DS8/AB/R, WT/DS10/AB/R,
WT/DS11/AB/R, at 13 n.24 (citing Sinclair, The Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties 137 (21d ed., 1984),
among others).

1 US First Submission, para. A-86 (emphasis added). The United States also goes so far to say that a
varied subsequent practice among Members demonstrates that there are multiple interpretations of a provision.
Varied subsequent practice, rather, demonstrates a lack of agreement and a need for clarity.

18 US Response to Panel Question 27, para. 16.

19 Us Closing Statement, page 2.



WT/DS184/R
Page C-14

wanted, USDOC overreacted. Rather than accept and then verify the information when it was
offered, USDOC instead excluded the information from the record. That the missing information had
little impact on the margin underscores the extreme nature of the USDOC policy. Even though the
nature of the information and the impact on the margin showed that respondents could not possibly
have been trying to manipulate the results, USDOC assumed the worse and lashed out in a punitive

way.

27. The US defense of its policy underscores the wrong-headed manner in which USDOC approaches
its task. Article 6.8 and Annex Il of the AD Agreement do not permit the adversarial nature of
USDOC anti-dumping investigations.

A. THE US PRACTICE OF APPLYING ADVERSE FACTS AVAILABLE VIOLATES THE AD
AGREEMENT

28. The language of USDOC's policy has a distinctly deterrent and punitive ring to it: "sufficiently
adverse so as to effectuate the statutory purpose of the adverse facts available rule to induce
respondents to provide the Department with complete and accurate information. .. ."*° In other
words, the policy says to the respondent "if you don’t obey, you will be punished." The AD
Agreement does not permit this. As we explained in response to Pane Quegtions 4, 6, and 7,
Article 6.8 and Annex Il of the AD Agreement are carefully worded to ensure that authorities focus
on abtaining the most necessary and reliable facts, not punishing respondents.

29. Japan has aready addressed twice the reasons why its Panel request was sufficiently detailed on
this topic in its 10 August 2000 Response to US Preliminary Objections (paragraphs 32-37) and in its
6 September 2000 Answers to Panel Questions (paragraphs 10-12, answering Question 3). We
merely reiterate here that the United States concedes it did nothing different in this case from what it
does in every case. If thisis true, then the US preliminary objection is merely aimed at urging the
Panel to limit any remedy it issues on this topic to the facts of this case. We hope that the Panel
understands that such a limitation merely invites repetitive litigation on USDOC's wrongful
application of adverse facts available. If the Panel accepts that the United States applied a genera
policy in this case that was inconsistent with the AD Agreement, then the remedy should be aimed at
stopping the United States from continued application of such apolicy in al future cases.

30. The United States cannot reconcile its practice to the AD Agreement. Its punitive use of adverse
facts available ignores the requirement of Paragraph 7 to choose secondary facts with specia
circumspection. Rather than look for the most reliable information under the circumstances, USDOC
searches for the heaviest club it can find to beat the respondent over the head. What the United States
falls to understand is that anti-dumping laws, as prescribed by the AD Agreement, are amed at
reaching the truth through the investigative process. Authorities are not permitted to treat respondents
as adversaries, like USDOC chooses to treat them. The aim of the authority, a least as far as
Article 6.8 and Annex Il of the AD Agreement are concerned, is to work with respondents and their
data, supplemented with other available information, to obtain facts that are as close to redity as
possible.

1. Annex |1 does not authorize pur poseful adver se facts available
(@ Paragraph 7
31. The United States relies most heavily on Paragraph 7 of Annex Il to support its punitive use of

adverse facts available. The United States claims that the "less favourable’ language in the third
sentence of this Paragraph authorizes authorities to apply adverse facts available® This interpretation

20 USDOC Final Dumping Determination, 64 Fed. Reg. at 24362, 24369 (Exh. JP-12).
2L US First Submission, para. B-66 to B-67.
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is misguided as it takes the sentence out of context and ignores the careful choice of words throughout
the paragraph.

32. Aswe explained in our response to Panel Question 4 (paragraphs 14-18), Paragraph 7 of Annex 11
applies once the decision is made to apply facts available. The entire thrust of the Paragraph is that
the authority must take speciad care in choosing the facts available -- in other words, to find
information that most closely approximates reality. Thisis why Paragraph 7 cals on the authority to
use "specia circumspection” in choosing the facts available, and to "check the information from other
independent sources.” This is one place, anong many, where Japan finds support for the notion that
the whole purpose of the facts available provisions of the AD Agreement is to fill gaps caused by
missing information.

33. Thefina sentence of Paragraph 7 does not change this overriding purpose. The sentence merely
contemplates that if a party does not cooperate and withholds information, then a less favourable
result might occur than if the party had cooperated and did not withhold information. The language of
Paragraph 7 obvioudy draws a line between the party that withholds and the party that does not. But
in al cases, the overriding purpose behind making such inferences is fact-driven: in other words,
upon applying special circumspection and checking the information againgt other information (as
required by Paragraph 7), the authority may decide that the most reasonable and logical manner in
which to fill the gap caused by the missing information is to use facts which might turn out to be less
favourable to the respondent. The purpose is not, as the US practice expressly states, to punish
respondents for not providing the information. The following table helps to illustrate the differences
between what Paragraph 7 contemplates and the US general practice:
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Requirement of AD Agreement
(To Find The Most Reliable Facts)

The title of Annex Il generally calls on
authorities to find the "best information
available."

Paragraph 7 calls on authorities to use "special
circumspection” and "to check the information
from other independent sources.”

In other words, when information is missing,
the authority must be very careful in its choice
of facts available. Any choice must be logical
and reasonable. To the extent any inferences
are made concerning the respondent’s
cooperation, they too must be logical and
reasonable. The purpose is to use facts that
most closely resemble reality.

In some cases, after applying special
circumspection, an authority may find that the
most logical and reasonable inference is one
that turns out to be less favourable to the
respondent, including margins alleged in the

US General Practice
(To Induce Respondents to Cooper ate,
i.e,, To Punish)

The US does not ask whether the information is
"best" under the circumstances.

The US does not apply special circumspection
or check its choice of facts available against
any other information. In fact, the US claims
that it has no reason to do so when the
information used belongs to the respondent
itsalf.

The US has no intention to find facts that most
closely resemble readlity. Rather, they
specifically seek to punish the respondent for
not cooperating when they wuse facts
"sufficiently adverse so as to effectuate the
statutory purpose of the adverse facts available
rule to induce respondents to provide the
Department with complete and accurate
information."

The language of the US practice demonstrates
the difference in approaches. "The purpose of
the adverse facts available rule," according to
the U.S,, is to force respondents to cooperate,
not to find the most reliable facts.

petition. But, nonetheless, the purpose is to
find the most reliable facts.

34. Even if the exporter does not or is not able to provide the requested information, the onus remains
on the investigating authority to determine whether dumping exists using facts available. On this
point, the United States asserts erroneoudly that the Pandl in U.S—Atlantic Salmon did not rgject the
principle that adverse inferences may be drawn where appropriate U.S—Atlantic Salmon did not
address the specific issue of whether a Member may adopt a practice of purposefully punishing an
exporter with adverse facts available. That dispute focused on the impact of the choice of facts
available on the non-sample group. Nonetheless, certain principles relevant to this dispute can be
extracted from the Pand’s anadlysis in U.S—Atlantic Salmon. In particular, the panel considered
representativeness to be an important goa when applying facts available. The overall goa of an
investigation, therefore, is to calculate the correct margin, or at least a representative margin.  The
level of participation or non-participation of the exporters does not excuse investigating authorities
from seeking that goal.

(b) Other Paragraphsin Annex |

35. In grasping for some basis to support its punitive form of adverse facts available, the United
States attempts to read into other provisions of Annex Il concepts that are not there. The United
States argues that the warning set forth in Paragraph 1 of Annex Il only makes sense if adverse facts
available are allowed.”® Yet, the warning that authorities may use facts available when information is
not supplied within a reasonable time refers to the possibility that the application of facts available

22 |d. paras. B-77 to B-78.
23 1d. para. B-61.
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will be less favourable. In some cases, the facts available may be less favourable; and because of this
possibility, Paragraph 1 of Annex Il requires authorities to warn the parties. In other words, the
uncertainty of a less favourable result itself creates the incentive to cooperate. There is no reason to
read into Paragraph 1 awarning of a purposefully adverse resullt.

36. The United States also asserts that because the warning specifically refers to the petition
information as the alternative, the use of adverse facts available is permitted. According to the United
States, because the petition information will "document the highest degree of dumping,” it is clear this
Paragraph authorizes the use of adverse facts available® This argument suggests that the AD
Agreement permits an authority to establish a practice of initiating investigations based on petition
information which "generdly is presumed to be adverse." If this is the case, the United States may
well be violating in most cases the requirements of Articles 5.2 and 5.3 of the AD Agreement.

37. The United States also argues that if Japan’s position were valid, Paragraph 5 of Annex 1l would
not make sense, because there would be no sanction for not acting to the best of one's ability.* But
the thrust of Paragraph 5 is precisely the opposite -- to oblige the authority to accept information even
if it isnot idedl, if the party has acted to the best of its ability. Even then there is no mention of facts
available, adverse or otherwise. There is no textual bass for the assertion that this provision allows
an authority to punish an exporter that does not act to the best of its ability.

38. Finaly, with respect to Paragraph 6, the United States says "there would be no reason to require
investigating authorities to give exporters a ‘last chance’ to explain before their information was
rejected, if that information could be replaced only with a neutral gap-filler."®® Paragraph 6 merely
says that the authority must provide the parties reasons why information is not accepted and the
opportunity for those parties to provide further explanations; if the explanations are considered
unsatisfactory, the authority’s reasons should be given in published determinations. The authority
must allow further explanations because it may be unclear exactly what the authority is requesting or
it may be that the party may not have been given the opportunity to provide the requested information.
This provision therefore does not support adverse facts available. Rather, Paragraph 6 embodies the
genera requirements of fairness and good faith in that it provides for notice of when and why
authorities might use facts available. Paragraph 6 is therefore a due process clause that exists for the
benefit of the parties, not the authority.

2. Article 6.8 does not authorize purposeful adver se facts available

39. The United States illogically reads Article 6.8 provision to mean that "because the use of facts
available is the solution to the problem posed by non-cooperative respondents,” authorities must be
able to induce respondents into cooperating by the prospect of a worse result.”” Buit, as the United
States admits, this interpretation is ssimply not supported by the text of the article: "Article 6.8 does
not explicitly provide that the selection of facts available may entail an adverse inference."*®

40. Article 6.8 provides "{i}n cases in which any interested party refuses access to, or otherwise does
not provide, necessary information within a reasonable period or significantly impedes the
investigation, preliminary and fina determinations, affirmative or negative, may be made on the basis
of the facts available." (Emphasis added) It says authorities can use facts available only when the

24| d. para. B-62.

%5 |d. para. B-63.

%5 | d. para. B-65.

27 |d. para. B-59. The United States claims that the use of facts available is to solve the problems of
uncooperative respondents. Yet, Article 6.8 clearly applies to al interested parties, not simply to respondents.
The limitation by the United States of the alleged problem and solution to respondents simply serves to
highlight its misunderstanding of the purpose of the provision and its biased use of the provision against
respondents.

%8 |d. para. B-59 (emphasis added).
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authorities do not have necessary information. Nowherein Article 6.8 is the word "adverse" used, nor
is there any reference to providing the authorities a mechanism to induce respondents to cooperate.
Rather, Article 6.8 treats al reasons for missing information in the same manner: by permitting the
resort to facts available. Even when a party "refuses access' to information, Article 6.8 merely
contemplates the use of 'facts available," not some adverse version thereof. Because there is no
modification of the term facts available, the use of facts available must be as reasonable and as
representative as possible.

3. The legal authorities cited by the United States are not analogous or authoritative

41. The United States analogy of a dispute between sovereign states and those between a private party
and a government agency is improper. The United States cites Canada—Civilian Aircraft and
Argentina—Footwear to support its conclusion that the WTO has recognized that the use of adverse
inferences is a necessary tool for gathering information.” These cases, however, involved the use of
adverse inferences during the course of the WTO dispute settlement proceeding. WTO disputes are
entirely different from an anti-dumping investigation. A dispute within the WTO system involves two
countries, one of which is accused of violating an international agreement. The WTO system depends
on cooperation among governments and compliance with WTO Agreements. For this reason,
Canada—Civilian Aircraft spoke about the "viability of the dispute settlement system."*°

42. An anti-dumping investigation is digtinct in that the private parties are not bound by an
international agreement. Indeed, the exporter’s participation is optiona; the AD Agreement is
indifferent as to whether an exporter participates. The AD Agreement recognizes that an exporter
may lack the resources to participate, the requested information, or the ability to extract the
information requested by the deadline requested. The duty of the investigating authority remains the
same, regardless of the level of participation of the exporter: to calculate as accurately and reasonably
as possible, the dumping margins of a particular exporter.

43. Findly, the US argument that most countries use adverse inferences to induce cooperation as a
justification for the US practice is absurd.®* The various practices of other Members are irrdlevant to
this inquiry. Panels should not determine WTO-consistency based on how many other Members are
also violating a particular WTO agreement.

B. THE APPLICATION OF ADVERSE FACTS AVAILABLE To KSC VIOLATED THE AD
AGREEMENT

44. USDOC's practice of punishing respondents with adverse facts available, as applied in this case,
violates the AD Agreement. Indeed, the US rebuttal with respect to its use of facts available for KSC
demonstrates that USDOC improperly established the facts, and demonstrates an array of AD
Agreement violations.

29 |d. paras. B-69 to B-71.

30 Notwithstanding its inapplicability here, the Canada—Civilian Aircraft case makes the point that
even if adverse inferences are made, such inferences must still be logical or reasonable in light of the
circumstances. In other words, they must be related to the facts involved, not merely aimed at punishment.
Canada—Measures Affecting the Export of Civilian Aircraft, 2 Aug. 1999, WT/DS70/AB/R, at para. 200
("Canada—Civilian Aircraft"). Further, we note that the authority for using adverse inferences in that case was
the Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures, Annex V of which specifically calls for use of
adverse inferences when government parties areinvolved. No such provision existsin the AD Agreement.

31 US First Submission, para. B-72. Moreover, the United States has misstated the doctrine of
"subsequent practice” as amatter of international law, as discussed above.



WT/DS184/R
Page C-19

1. The United States misstates the facts

45. The US rebuttal contains numerous factual mischaracterizations with respect to KSC. In raising
these mischaracterizations, Japan does not ask the Panel to substitute its own factual conclusions for
those of USDOC,; rather, Japan demonstrates how USDOC (as well as the United States Government
in its First Submission) improperly established the facts.

" KSC did not allege that CS was unable to provide the requested information.” US First
Submission, para. B-18 (emphasisin original).

46. Infact, KSC repeatedly set forth CSI’s inability to provide the requested information in a number
of submissionsto USDOC. In response to arequest from KSC, CS| stated that

CSl isunable under its accounting system to provide the information on saes. . . . It
is dso our belief that without being able to provide the important information of
sales prices requested, the provision of other data requested by {KSC} would neither
be usable nor useful in the investigation of Kawasaki. . . ."*

KSC first put thet letter on the record on 18 December 1998,* and then reiterated CSI's
response that CSI’s accounting system was unable to provide the information.® In its
continued efforts to show USDOC CSl’s inability to provide the requested information, KSC
twice submitted to USDOC Mr. Gongalves Letter to KSC of 14 December 1998.%°

"{T}he Shareholders Agreement is the only objective evidence on the record that shows
how CSI operated and was governed internally." USFirst Submission, para. B-88.

47. This is a surprising and extreme statement. The purpose of any shareholders agreement is to
define how a company should operate.  Such agreements alone do not necessarily reflect how a
company is run in practice. KSC submitted severd letters from CSI's President and CEO, Mr.
Gongalves, showing how CSl operated in practice — including its participation as a petitioner in an
anti-dumping case against both its parent companies home countries® Much of this evidence
demongtrated that the Shareholders Agreement was regularly ignored by the company and its
shareholders. Such evidence is no less objective than the Shareholders Agreement itself.

"{T}here is no evidence on the record that KSC even invoked [ ]" US First Submission,
para. B-93.

48. The United States conveniently ignores evidence that is clearly set forth in one of its own
exhibits. The KSC Sdles Verification Report acknowledges that KSC in fact invoked [ 13 The
report also specificaly recognizes CSlI’s letter refusing the suggested visit from one of KSC's

32 See Mr. Gongalves Letter to KSC of 14 Dec. 1998 (Exh. JP-42(m)) (emphasis added).

33 See KSC Letter to USDOC of 18 Dec. 1998, at Appendix A (proprietary version attached as
Exh. JP-93(a)).

34 See KSC Section C Questionnaire Response, at 2 (21 Dec. 1998) (excerpts in Exh. JP-42(p))
(emphasis added).

35 See KSC Verification Exhibit 20 (Mar. 1999) (excerpts attached as Exh. JP-93(b)); KSC's Case
Brief at 16, Exhibit 2 (12 Apr. 1999) (excerpts attached as Exh JP-93(c)).

38 All of the letters on CSI’s letterhead from Mr. Gongalves, CSI's President and CEO, provide strong
objective evidence of how CSI operated. See Mr. Gongalves Letter to KSC of 29 Oct. 1998 (Exh. JP-42(f));
Mr. Gongalves Letter to KSC of 6 Nov. 1998 (Exh. JP-42(h)); Mr. Gongalves Letter to KSC of 14 Dec. 1998
(Exh. JP-42(m)). Additional discussion demonstrating how the Shareholders Agreement was regularly
ignored bsy the company and its sharehol ders appears at Exh. JP-93(d).

" See KSC Sales Verification Report, at 21-22 (excerpts in US/B-21 and Exh. JP-42(y)) ("KSC
invoked this Article in seeking permission to compile the necessary data, but CSI refused permission.”).
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atorneys and accounting consultant.® The United States aso ignores the language of the
Shareholders Agreement, which includes providing [ 1."*® Without question, the [ 1.*° Thus, as
KSC's[ ] KSC's attorneys did in fact [ ] when they asked CSl for access to CSl information to
prepare the response

"There is nothing on the record indicating that KSC would have encountered any
opposition from CVRD if KSC had directly requested CVRD’s assistance in obtaining the
information requested by Commerce. . . ." USFirst Submission, para. B-96.

49. KSC informed USDOC that CVRD’s parent, CSN was a respondent in the companion
investigation of hot-rolled steel products from Brazil, and as such, CVRD was in effect a competitor
of KSC in the US market.*?

"KSC never asked for Commerce's assistance in the investigation in any respect.
Specifically, KSC never asked Commerce what steps it should take to obtain the
information regarding its sales through CSI" or submit the information in another form.
USFirst Submission, para. B-106.*

50. KSC submitted numerous letters to USDOC outlining the difficulties KSC encountered in
attempting to obtain the CSl information. It would be absurd to conclude that such repeated
communicationsto USDOC did not in any respect include arequest for assistance.

51. Indeed, on 9 November 1998, the day after KSC received Mr. Gongalves Letter of 6 November
1998, refusing the KSC vist, KSC's attorneys met with USDOC to apprise the agency of the
situation.** Following up on the meeting, KSC submitted a letter to USDOC on 10 November 1998.°
Moreover, in a3 December 1998 |etter to USDOC, KSC reminded USDOC that "we have received no
response from the Department."*® That statement was based on the belief that USDOC should have
provided KSC advice following its meeting and its letters, and was intended to dlicit a response from
USDOC. Alsointhat letter, KSC asked to attend a meeting between USDOC and petitioners' counsel
(i.e. CSI’s counsd), specifically addressing CSl’s refusal to provide KSC the necessary information,
"so that al involved will have a complete understanding of the issues involved.” USDOC refused to
alow KSC to attend the meeting.

52. KSC continued its efforts to persuade USDOC to provide guidance. Initsletter to USDOC of 18
December 1998, KSC was more specific in its request for assistance. KSC stated that it, as yet, had
"received no information, guidance, or response from the Department."*’

38 |d. at 22 (excerptsin US/B-21 and Exh. JP-42(y)); seealso Mr. Gongalves Letter to KSC of 6 Nov.
1998 (Exh. JP-42(h)).

39 Shareholders’ Agreement Art. [ ] (Exh. JP-42(aa)) (emphasis added).

40 |ndeed, even CSI acknowledges that KSC's attorneys and accounting consultant are [ ] under the
Shareholders’ Agreement. See Mr. Gongalves Letter to KSC of 6 Nov. 1998 (Exh. JP-42(h)) (noting "even
Kawasaki Steel being one of our shareholders, we usually apply some restrictions to the disclosure of sensitive
data to their representatives.") (emphasis added).

1 See KSC Letter to Mr. Gongalves of 5 Nov. 1998 (Exh. JP-42(qg)) (requesting a four day visit with
CSl’ s accounting staff).

42 5ee KSC Letter to USDOC of 10 Nov. 1998 (Exh. JP-42(i)).

3 The Court of International Trade opinion by Judge Restani should not be given weight because it too
is based on an incorrect factual premise that KSC never asked for guidance. See Kawasaki Steel Corp. v. United
States, Court No. 99-08-00482, Slip Op. 00-91, at 19-20 (1 Aug. 2000) (Exh. JP-93(€)).

4 See KSC Letter to USDOC of 18 Dec. 1998 (Exh. JP-42(n)).

> See KSC Letter to USDOC of 10 Nov. 1998 (Exh. JP-42(i)).

0 K SC Letter to USDOC of 3 Dec. 1998, at 1 (Exh. JP-78) (emphasis added).

47K SC Letter to USDOC of 18 Dec. 1998 (Exh. JP-42(n)) (emphasis added).
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53. Notwithstanding that the US statement is inaccurate, whether or not KSC asked for guidance is
irrdlevant. As discussed further below in Section 111.B.3, Article 6.13 obliges the investigating
authority to provide assistance once the interested party notifies the authority of its difficulties. The
AD Agreement does not oblige an interested party to ask for assistance.

" Commerce did request, and KSC refused to report, the transfer prices between KSC and
CSl." USFirst Submission, para. B-123.

54. The US exhibits demonstrate that this statement is false. KSC provided USDOC with detailed
product, quantity, and price information for its sales to CSI,*® and later referred USDOC to its
product-specific transfer price data*® Moreover, as the United States admits earlier in its submission,
"Commerce examined documents relating to KSC's sales through CSI" at verification. *°

55. The extent of the US mischaracterizations on al of these factua issues completely compromises
the US position.

2. The United States misinter pretsthe requirements of Paragraph 7 of Annex ||

56. The US practice ignores the requirements for choosing facts available under Paragraph 7 of
Annex Il. For KSC, USDOC failed to comply with three aspects of the provision. First, it chose an
adverse facts available margin with the express purpose to punish the company. As discussed above,
this is inconsistent with the language of Paragraph 7 of Annex Il and the entire concept of facts
avallable. Second, its choice ignored the critical question of whether KSC in fact "withheld" CSI’'s
information, as required by Paragraph 7. Third, it made no effort whatsoever to comply with the same
paragraph’s requirement to use "specia circumspection” in choosing facts available. The first of
these violations is addressed in detail above with regard to Japan’s generd clam. The second and
third are addressed below.

(@ The United States misunderstands the plain meaning of the term "withheld"

57. The United States argues that its choice of adverse facts was judtified because KSC withheld
information from USDOC. Even assuming that the words "less favourable' could justify punitive
adverse facts available (which it does not), USDOC still violated the last sentence of Paragraph 7.
The plain meaning of "is being withheld" requires that a party have something in its possession that it
is actively refusing to turn over® A party cannot "withhold" something unless it possesses it or at
least has the power to exercise control over it so as to keep the item from being turned over. KSC did
not possess the information requested by USDOC, nor did it control CSI so as to be able to
affirmatively refuse to provide the information to USDOC >

58. USDOC ignored evidence that showed CSI’s inability and unwillingness to cooperate with KSC,
as well as the competitive market relationship KSC maintained with both CSI and its joint venture

48 KSC Section A Response at Exhibit 37 (16 Nov. 1998) (excerpts attached as Exh. JP-93(f), with
sensitive business confidential information redacted).

49 K SC Supplemental Section A Response at 6-7 (4 Dec. 1998) (excerptsin US/B-24).

0 US First Submission, para. B-20.

®1 The definition of "withhold" in the New Shorter Oxford English Dictionary is: "1. restraint or hold
back from action; keep under restraint; 2. keep back (what belongsto, isdueto, or isdesired by another); refrain
from giving, granting or allowing."

2 The fact that under US law, KSC and CSl are treated as a single entity is not determinative. Rather,
it simply illustrates the absurdity of US practice. USDOC collapsed KSC and CSl, despite their conflicting
interests and CSI’ sactual independence from KSC as exhibited through the events that actually transpired See
19U.S.C. § 1677(33) (Exh. JP-4(i)); 19 C.F.R. 8 351.102(b) (Exh. JP-5(a)); 19 C.F.R §351.401(f) (attached as
Exh. JP-90(b)).
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partner, CVRD. USDOC thus failed to properly establish the facts or evaluate them objectively and,
in turn, ignored its obligations under the AD Agreement.

(0) CY'’s President and CEO repeatedly made clear he could not and would not help KSC
respond to the USDOC

59. It is an uncontested fact that KSC did not itself possess the information USDOC deemed
necessary from CSl. The issue, then, is whether KSC nonetheless controlled whether CSlI would
release the information. In fact, KSC did not control CSI’s ability or willingness to provide the
information.

60. In response to an 8 December 1998 request for information from KSC's attorneys’® CSI’s
President and CEO Mr. Gongalves stated as follows:

"CSl is unable under its accounting system to provide the information on sales
requested in question 1. . . . It isalso our belief that without being able to provide the
important information of sales prices requested, the provision of other data requested
by {KSC} would neither be usable nor useful in the investigation of Kawasaki. . . ."™*

So, in addition to not having the information itself, KSC was told that the entity that controlled the
information was unable to supply the most important part of it.

61. Furthermore, Mr. Gongalves repeatedly refused to provide the requested information,> citing
CSlI’srole as a petitioner in the investigation:

"{P}lease remember that CS is one of the petitioners, and eventually we would be in a
difficult position to supply some kind of information."®

"Besides the fact, that CS isone of the petitioners. . . some of the data {KSC} would like to

have access is confidential CSl data, and even Kawasaki Steel being one of our shareholders,

we usualy apply some restrictions to the disclosure of sensitive data to their representatives.

This behaviour has been adopted here at CSl in order to protect the company as an American

steel company, regardless of the Brazilian and Japanese ownership."®’

"Itisadso {CSl's} belief that without being able to provide the important information of sales
prices requested, the provision of other data requested by { KSC's attorneys} would be neither
usable nor useful in the investigation of Kawasaki and therefore would be a waste of
resources for both CSI and Kawasaki."*®

S0, beyond CSI’s apparent inability to help with respect to some requests, the company aso refused
to help with others.

53 K SC Letter to CSl of 8 Dec. 1998 (Exh. JP-42(1)) (emphasis added).

> Mr. Gongalves Letter to KSC of 14 Dec. 1998 (Exh. JP-42(m)) (emphasis added).

%5 See KSC Letter to Mr. Gongalves of 27 Oct. 1998 Exh. JP-42(e) (seeking cooperation in
responding to USDOC questionnaire, specifically including sales by CSI as reseller or further processor of the
subject merchandise originating from KSC); KSC Letter to Mr. Gongalves of 5 Nov. 1998 Exh. JP-42(g))
(requesting acceptance of a four-day visit with CSI’s accounting staff by one of KSC's attorneys and KSC's
accounting consultant in order to review the information for the questionnaire response); KSC Letter to CSI of 8
Dec. 1998 (Exh. JP-42(1)) (inquiring into its previous requests for information and specifically listing the
information requested pertaining to CSI from the Supplemental Questionnaire); KSC Letter to CSI of 7 Jan.
1999 (Exh. JP-42(t)) (reminding CSl of its previous requests for information and requesting again al of the
information requested by USDOC in its questionnaires).

6 Mr. Gongalves Letter to KSC of 29 Oct. 1998 (Exh. JP-42(f)) (emphasis added).

" Mr. Gongalves Letter to KSC of 6 Nov. 1998 (Exh. JP-42(h)) (emphasis added).

%8 Mr. Gongalves Letter to KSC of 14 Dec. 1998 (Exh. JP-42(m)).
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62. To downplay the actions of Mr. Gongalves, the United States depicts the President and CEO of
any company as a low-level employee.® In actudlity, the President and CEO of any company is the
highest-ranking "employee" and has considerable power to take actions on a daily basis in the best
interests of the company.®

63. The power of the President and CEO was even more pronounced in the case of CSl. At
verification, KSC officials explained that the Shareholders Agreement between KSC and CVRD did
not operate to allow either company any rea control of CSI’s day-to-day conduct. ** In fact, the
Agreement was structured so that the rights of KSC and CVRD would be in exact balance. Given that
neither KSC nor CVRD controlled the day-to-day conduct of CSl, that left only one person in a
position to do so: Mr. Gongalves.

64. Indeed, CSl’s decision to become a petitioner in the investigation is a perfect example of the
power Mr. Goncalves had as President and CEO. Contrary to Article [ ] of the Shareholders
Agreement, CSI’ s decision to become a petitioner was[ 1% By the time of the[ ] in December, CSI
was aready a petitioner.*® Moreover, CSl did not obtain KSC's approval to become a petitioner.*
Thus, the ultimate decision to become a petitioner must have been made by the highest ranking officer
of CSl, Mr. Gongalves.”

65. Petitioner CSl, therefore, had the power to act on its own, including maintaining possession of the
information USDOC wanted and prohibiting KSC — and USDOC — from seeing it. Under such
circumstances, KSC could not withhold the information.

(i) Even though KSC was a part owner, it had no unilateral control of CS

66. The United States incorrectly concludes that KSC's 50-percent ownership of CSl should have
given KSC the requisite power to obtain the information.®® Yet, because KSC only controls 50
percent of the shareholder votes and directors, KSC was not in aposition to unilaterally reverse CSI’s
decision not to cooperate with KSC's requests for information. Instead, KSC needed the support of
its joint venture partner, CVRD.

67. Considering Mr. Gongalves personal ties to both CVRD and CSN, however, KSC had reason to
believe that CVRD’s position would be the same as that of Mr. Gongalves. Mr. Gongalves was
nominated by CVRD to be CSl’s President and CEO. In addition, prior to becoming President and
CEO, Mr. Goncalves had been an employee of CSN, CVRD’s partial owner. As an employee of
CSN, Mr. Goncalves was aware of the close relationship between CSN and CVRD. Moreover, Mr.
Gongalves, as well as KSC, appreciated that CSN was KSC's competitor in the US market and as a
compgitor of KSC, it would bein CSN’s, and CVRD’s favor for KSC to obtain a higher margin than
CSN.

9 USFirst Submission, para. B-83.

%0 1 Corporation {1713 (1997) (excerpts attached as Exh. JP-93(g)) ({ T}he president of a corporation
isits business head and has power to do any act that the board of directors could authorize or ratify.").

61 KSC Sales Verification Report, at 21-22 (excerpts in US/B-21 and Exh. JP-42(y)); Shareholders
Agreement Art. [ ].

%2 See Board Meeting Minutes of 28 July 1998 (US/B-23/BI S).

63 See Board Meeting Minutes of 10 Dec. 1998 (US/B-23/BIS).

%4 K SC Sales Verification Report, at 21 (excerptsin US/B-21 and Exh. JP-42(y)).

® This is one among many ways in which the actual operation of CSl failed to comply with the
apparent intent of the Shareholders Agreement. Exhibit JP-93(d) provides a complete list.

% US First Submission, para. B-89.

®7 K SC Letter to USDOC of 10 Nov. 1998 (Exh. JP-42(i)).
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68. The United States suggests that the [ ] could have easily resolved the dispute®® The[ 1.%° With [
] itishighly unlikely that its convention would resolve in actuality any deadlock.

69. The US arguments supporting its claim that KSC could exert power over CSl are simply not
senditive to the corporate redlities of multinational companies that are owned by companies with
differing interests in a particular dumping proceeding. Here we have an extreme case where KSC's
interests are in conflict with both parties who would be in the best position to provide assistance.
CSl’sinterests are in conflict with KSC's as CSl is a petitioner. KSC's interests are in conflict with
CVRD, because CVRD'’s part owner, CSN, is aso a respondent in the investigation and thereby
competeswith KSC in the US market.

70. The United States focuses on how or whether KSC could have obtained the information, and
whether the respondent acted to the best of its ability. The United States therefore implies that a party
must take al actions that USDOC thinks necessary, whether in redlity they would prove futile or not.
But whether or not al such actions are taken, the question remains. did KSC withhold the
information?

71. The facts clearly show that KSC did not possess the CSl information, and that as a practical
matter, KSC did not have the power to obtain the information. The United States failed to establish
that KSC in fact could have obtained this information, and, in turn, that it effectively withheld the
information. The United States therefore applied facts available in violation of Annex I1.

(b) The United States misunderstands the plain meaning of "special circumspection”

72. The United States misconstrues the requirement of "special circumspection in Paragraph 7." ™
The United States claims that it applied circumspection by using the second-highest rather than the
highest margin given that the highest margin was not within the mainstream of KSC's sdles. Also, the
United States argues that in choosing the second highest margin, its use of adverse inferences was
"directly proportionate" to the significance of the underlying violation. ™

73. This argument demonstrates that the United States does not comprehend the true purpose of facts
available: to fill in the gaps left when necessary information is unavailable and to do so in such a
manner to ensure the information used is reliable so as to produce an accurate margin. This is the
whole point of Paragraph 7's requirement to use specia circumspection and to corroborate any
information it chooses to use. The phrase specia circumspection cannot mean punishing a respondent
with the second worst results instead of the worst results. Indeed, such an application is far from
circumspection -- "a cautious observation of the circumstances' and "taking everything into account.”
Further, the phrase circumspection is modified by the adjective "specia.” According to the New
Shorter Oxford English Dictionary, special means "exceptional in quality or degree; unusua, out of
the ordinary." This modification of circumspection emphasizes the exceptional exercise of care

®8 US First Submission, para. B-96.

%9 Shareholders’ Agreement Art. [ ] (Exh. JP-42(aa)) (emphasis added).

0 Actually, the primary argument made by the United States is that Paragraph 7 does not even apply.
The United States asserts that the special circumspection requirement isirrelevant because USDOC used KSC's
own information, and not information from a secondary source -- i.e., a source other than the respondent itself.
US First Submission, paras. B-109 to B-110. A secondary source, however, is anything other than the primary
source (i.e., the actual information requested). The use of marginsfrom KSC's other sales as a substitute for its
CEP sales was therefore a secondary source. This must be the case as there is no reason to apply a different
standard for checking the representativeness of data merely because the data used as facts available belongs to
the party. In any event, the question of representativeness -- which is required by Annex Il, as discussed above
in paragraphs 41 through 43 -- still applies notwithstanding the US interpretation of "secondary source." Note
also that if the United Statesis right about "secondary source,” then it can no longer rely on "less favourable” to
justify adverse facts available.

"L USFirst Submission, paras. B-112 to B-113.
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authorities must observe in relying on facts available -- they must ensure that the information used is
reliable and as close to redlity as possible.

74. The United States claims that the use of any other facts would have rewarded KSC for not
cooperating. "> 1gnoring for amoment that KSC did, in fact, cooperate, a less punitive facts available
margin would have rewarded KSC only if KSC knew that CSI’s information would produce a high
margin. The facts show that neither of these were possible. First, KSC did not know the actua
margin as it did not possess or even have access to CSl’sresdle information. Second, USDOC did not
know the actua margins and, thereby, did not know when it would cross the threshold between
punishment and reward. Thus, the US claim is not credible.

75. In aweak attempt to demonstrate that USDOC took everything into account, the United States
clamsthat it wasin CSI’s best interests to cooperate as an affiliated importer and reseller of KSC hot-
rolled steel and that any benefit experienced by CSI from the application of adverse facts available
indirectly rewarded KSC as a shareholder of CSI.”> USDOC cannot possibly decide what is and is not
inacompany’s best interests. CSI obvioudy decided that, on balance, it enjoys the greatest benefit by
refusing to cooperate, and encouraging USDOC to apply facts available to KSC.

76. Besides the factual inaccuracies of this argument, the United States relies on circular logic. It is
absurd for the United States to excuse the benefit to CSI by arguing that any benefit to CSl would also
benefit KSC as a shareholder. If this logic were true, then the United States would have contravened
its basic intention of penalizing KSC. The United States cannot try to justify adverse facts available
to pendize KSC in one context, and then argue that its application was justified because it indirectly
benefited KSC.

77. Ladtly, the United States asserts that it exercised specia circumspection by using partid facts
available instead of total facts available” This is absurd. If the US interpretation were true, any
partial facts available would satisfy this requirement, regardless of how illogica or unreasonable the
available facts might be.

78. Ultimately, what matters most is that USDOC failed to consider carefully the fact that CSl was a
petitioner in this case -- a fact which led USDOC to excuse respondents in previous cases.””> Above
all else, this fact proves that USDOC failed to apply "specia circumspection” when choosing which
facts available to use when CSl refused to cooperate.

3. Article 6.13 unambiguously requires authorities to take into account any difficulties
experienced by interested parties and to provide assistance to those parties

79. The United States attempts to dismiss the mandatory language of Article 6.13, by misreading the
actua language of the article, focusing inappropriately on KSC's size, and shifting its obligations onto
KSC's attorneys® These arguments ignore the simple fact that Article 6.13 unambiguously
establishes obligations upon the authority, and not upon the interested party or its lawyers.

80. Article 6.13 states "{t} he authorities shall take due account of any difficulties experienced by
interested parties, in particular small companies, in supplying information requested, and shall
provide any assistance practicable" (emphasis added). The text of Article 6.13 is unambiguous.

2|d. para. B-113.

3 |d. para. B-114.

" |d. para. B-116.

"> See, e.g., Notice of Final Determination of Sales at Less Than Fair Value: Stainless Steel Wire Rod
From Taiwan, 63 Fed. Reg. 40461, 40464 (29 July 1998) (excerpts attached as Exh. JP-93(h)) (noting that one
of the reasons the respondent was unable to report the information USDOC requested was the affiliate’s
participation in the proceeding as a petitioner).

% USFirst Submission, paras. B-103 to B-106.
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Contrary to US clam, the phrase "in particular smal companies’ does not limit Article 6.13
exclusively to small companies,”” and does not absolve the authority of this responsibility when a
large company is subject to investigation. Further, Article 6.13 explicitly requires authorities to
examine carefully any kind of obstacles interested parties faced in supplying the requested
information to the authority. Indeed, the use of the words "shall" and "any" demonstrate the broad
scope of thisobligation. In this case, KSC made clear it had difficulties.

81. The United States attempts to sidestep USDOC’ s obligation to provide assistance by claiming that
KSC should have known how to handle its affiliate and joint venture partner. But, as discussed
above, USDOC ignored the competitive redlities of the situation. Further, USDOC affirmatively
obstructed efforts to find a solution, when it scheduled a meeting with CSI to discuss the anti-
dumping case and refused KSC's participation. ”® At the very least, attempting to suggest alternatives,
and seeing that they were not viable, would have better positioned USDOC to more fully appreciate
the difficulties KSC experienced and understand that KSC had in fact acted to the best of its ability.
This type of exchange is exactly the type of collaborative effort contemplated by Article 6.13.

82. Inthefina determination, USDOC identified after-the-fact avenues KSC should have explored to
convince the United States that it had acted to the best of its ability. USDOC could have notified
KSC of those expectations during the investigation. This would have both provided "practicable
assistance” and put KSC on natice that unless it at least attempted these approaches, USDOC would
deem KSC as non-cooperative. Instead, USDOC simply waited until the fina investigation to
identify other avenuesit required KSC to explore. This predatory approach reveas that USDOC was
not acting as a neutral fact-finder, but instead in a biased manner that ultimately violated its
obligations under the AD Agreement.

4, USDOC'sfailureto calculate a constructed export price for KSC violated Article 2.3 of
the AD Agreement

83. Instead of actually calculating an export price for KSC's sales of hot-rolled stedl to CSI, USDOC
used the second-highest margin from any of KSC's sdles for al of those CSI transactions, in violation
of Article 2.3 of the AD Agreement. The United States argues that if the authority considers that the
export price is unreliable because of an association, it need not test whether in fact the prices are
reliable.”® But this interpretation ignores the rest of the text of Article 2.3.

84. Article 2.3 provides that authorities calculate export price on the basis of resale price or "another
reasonable basis" When read as a whole, the text of Article 2.3 shows there must be something that
brings the unreliability of the prices into question in order for the authority to later be able to judge the
reasonableness of its caculation. Association alone cannot serve as the basis for the decision that the
prices appear unreliable. Instead, Article 2.3 indicates that the phrase "because of association” is not
the judtification for an unreliability determination. Rather, the authority must find that the prices are
unreliable, and their unreliability must be caused by the association.

85. In its response to Japan's suggestion that USDOC use KSC's own prices to CSl to test the
reliability of the data, the United States incorrectly states that KSC refused to report the transfer price
between KSC and CSI #° As discussed above, however, the record shows that USDOC did in fact
have the information that would have alowed it to make a comparison between KSC's sales to CS|
and those to its non-affiliated customers®* USDOC simply ignored the data. USDOC immediately

"|d. para. B-103.

8 KSC Letter to USDOC of 3 Dec. 1998 (Exh. JP-78). Japan wonders why USDOC did not take this
opportunitgy to specifically request the information from CSl| directly.

"9 US First Submission, para. B-120.

80| d. para. B-123.

81 K SC Section A Response at Exhibit 37 (excerpts attached asExh. JP-93(f)).
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jumped to the assumption that because KSC and CSl were affiliates, CSI’s resale prices were
necessary.®

86. Had USDOC actualy determined that KSC's transfer prices to CSlI were unreliable, the detailed
transfer price information till provided USDOC with a "reasonable basis' to calculate a surrogate
export price to compare to normal value, rather than immediately applying a margin for sales through
CSI.# USDOC instead chose to ignore its obligation under Article 2.3 to calculate an export price on
a"reasonable basis' once it summarily decided that the KSC-to-CSl price was unreliable. The United
States again specifically relies on the factual inaccuracy that KSC did not provide such information to
justify disregarding the existence of perfectly acceptable normal values.®

87. We recognize that to apply facts available to calculate a surrogate export price, USDOC would
have to make certain assumptions about expenses. This is precisely the objective of facts available,
and the obligation of the authority: if it cannot obtain the ided information in its investigation, the
authority should resort to secondary sources for information. KSC's sales to CS| were the best source
for such information. The fact that the United States quickly jumped to a punitive application of the
second highest margin, and did not enlist KSC to help it develop a surrogate export price in the face
of CSl’s recalcitrance, demonstrates that the United States had no intent of trying to find the "best
information available," as the title of Annex Il intends.

C. THE APPLICATION OF ADVERSE FACTS AVAILABLE TO NKK AND NSC VIOLATES THE AD
AGREEMENT

88. USDOC acted arbitrarily in its treatment of NKK and NSC. An objective authority could not
have assessed the facts surrounding NKK’s and NSC's errors as deserving such harsh punishment.
Moreover, USDOC failed to apply the requisite legal standards of the AD Agreement when it carried
out these punishments. Specifically, USDOC actualy received the information it needed from NSC
and NKK; both provided the information and offered to verify the information. USDOC arbitrarily
decided the information had not been provided fast enough. Ignoring the circumstances that led to the
inadvertent delays, USDOC punished the companies with adverse facts available.

1. The United States argues for unreasonable standards of timeliness and unreachable
standards for cooperation

(b) Article 6.8 and Annex |l establish a "reasonableness’ standard for timely submission of
information

89. The United States equates deadlines with a "reasonable time" or a "timely fashion” under
Paragraphs 1 and 3 of Annex Il. The issue is not whether the deadlines were reasonable, but rather
whether NKK and NSC submitted the information within a reasonable period.* A deadline cannot
define what is a reasonable period of time for all information the authority will incorporate into its
determination. Although deadlines may be necessary to obtain the majority of information from

82 Note that one requirement for applying facts available under Article 6.8 is that the information be
"necessary." This discussion proves that USDOC did not even determine whether it was necessary, and thus
violated Article 6.8.

83 The US suggestion that Japan treats the "reasonable basis' language of Article 2.3 as a separate facts
available provision is mistaken. The reasonable basis requirement of Article 2.3 only applies to Article 2.3 and
does not replace the facts available provisions. For example, in KSC's situation, the reasonable basis
requirement would have simply allowed USDOC to devise a reasonable manner in which to calcul ate the export
price after it determined the KSC-to-CSlI price was unreliable. The facts available provisions would provide the
authority for USDOC to use the secondary information available in order to calculate the export price on a
reasonable basis.

84 USFirst Submission, para. B-124.

8 USFirst Submission, para. B-132.
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respondents, it is not reasonable to claim that a deadline should mark the last moment the authority
will accept new information in al cases under all circumstances. Flexibility, when circumstances
demand it, is the halmark of reasonableness. For example, to the extent there are small, lingering
categories of information that are submitted after a deadline, or collected by the authority during a
verification, the authority has received this information within a reasonable period of time to
incorporate it into its dumping analysis and calculations.

90. Authorities also must consider the other informational demands on respondents during an
investigation; whether the authority’ s initial request was clear (or whether there was some doubt as to
exactly what the authority was requesting); whether the authority assisted the company with follow-up
guidance as to the nature of its request and how to comply with it; and whether the information was
maintained in the normal course of business (or whether it would have to be developed solely for the
investigation). USDOC ignored all of these factors during its fact-finding for NKK and NSC.

(i) The requirement of Paragraph 1 of Annex Il for submission of information within a
"reasonable time" must be read in the context of USDOC general practice

91. The United States incorrectly claims that Paragraph 1 of Annex |l equates "a reasonable time'
with deadlines established by the authority.®® Paragraph 1 states that "if information is not supplied
within a reasonable time, the authorities will be free to make determinations on the basis of the facts
available” Although "reasonableness' is subjective, it must be interpreted in context of the
proceeding itself and the authority’s prior practice. In the ordinary legad meaning of the term,
reasonable means "suitable under the circumstances."®’ This case does not present a situation where
the respondents provided nothing within USDOC'’s questionnaire deadlines. Respondents provided
an extraordinary amount of information in an extremely detailed manner. The weight conversion
factors at issue here represented a very minor portion of the large volume of information submitted by
NKK and NSC. When these companies discovered that they could correct the record and submit the
requested information, they submitted the factors along with a long list of other corrections and
supplemental information. All of these corrections were submitted well before verification, and
therefore in a reasonable time; USDOC and petitioners had substantial opportunity to review, respond
to, and use the information. The fact that USDOC accepted NKK’s and NSC's other corrections, and
thereby implicitly found that they were submitted in a reasonable period, proves that the conversion
factors were timely under the circumstances.

92. USDOC regularly accepts information after questionnaire deadlines, as recognized in its
regulation that allows parties to submit new factua information up until seven days before
verification.®® The US argument against application of this regulatory deadline to NKK’sand NSC's
submission of new factual information is entirely inconsistent with USDOC practice®® Taken to the

8 |d. paras. B-133 to B-139.

87 Black's Law Dictionary 1265 (6 Ed. 1990).

8 |n this very case, USDOC accepted approximately 200 pages of new factual information submitted
by petitioners the same day NKK and NSC submitted their weight conversion factors. Petitioners’ 22 February
1999 submission to USDOC provided a number of press articles about KSC, NKK, or NSC; the Japanese steel
industry generally; factors affecting demand; and other general information.

8 The United States is trying to convince the Panel that the regulation does not apply to information
requested in aquestionnaire. See US Response to Japan’s Question 9, para. 12. USDOC itself recently took the
opposite position. See Issues and Decision Memorandum for the Investigation of Certain Polyester Staple Fiber
From Taiwan, 65 Fed. Reg. 16877 (30 Mar. 2000), <http://ia.ita.doc.gov/frn/summary/taiwan/00-7925-1.txt>
(attached as Exh. JP-94) ("Decision Memorandum"). In this recent case, USDOC faced a challenge from
petitioners to disregard corrections submitted by a respondent just before verification. USDOC first noted that
respondent’ s original questionnaire and supplemental questionnaire responses were all submitted within the time
limits established by USDOC. USDOC also noted that respondent’ s corrections were timely in accordance with
19 C.F.R. 8 351.301(b)(1) (the same provision at issue in the hot-rolled steel case). Then, citing the overriding
purpose of the US anti-dumping statute, which "is to determine margins as accurately as possible,” USDOC
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extreme, this interpretation would prevent submission of any corrections or supplemental information
before verification. Yet corrections are necessary when a respondent’s prior questionnaire responses
were either incorrect or incomplete. Thisis USDOC's standard practice, which it otherwise followed
in the hot-rolled stedl investigation.

93. The weight conversion information submitted by NKK and NSC was a correction.”® The
companies mistakenly believed that they could not respond to USDOC's request.  When it became
clear to NKK (without any assistance from USDOC) that what USDOC required was a better estimate
of weight, NKK corrected its prior submissions and supplied the information. Similarly, NSC
discovered during verification preparation that its production facilities actualy retained weight
information for the subject sales, a discovery that was not made earlier because the weight
information was maintained on a computer system that could not be accessed by the NSC sales
personnel responsible for preparing NSC's questionnaire response. NSC then corrected itself and
supplied the information. The conversion factors were submitted before the regulatory deadline for
new factua information and therefore were submitted within in a reasonable time.

94. Moreover, USDOC accepted a large number of other corrections after the applicable
questionnaire deadlines® These additional corrections had a much larger impact on USDOC's
dumping analysis than the weight conversion factor. The long list of corrections submitted by each
company places the weight conversion factor into context, and highlights the arbitrary nature of
USDOC’ sdecision. The US emphasis on the fact that NKK and NSC had 87 days in which to submit
the conversion factors is unconvincing considering the fact that the information on which many of the
other corrections were based was due in exactly the same amount of time.”

stated that it would be "incongruous with the express intent of the statute to rely on data that are clearly
inaccurate by a respondent’s own admission. Accordingly, it is the Department’s general practice to allow
respondents to revise their data upon identification of errors when such revisions are done in a timely manner.
Timely revisions to respondents’ submissions are neither unusual nor inconsistent with the Department's
standard g)ractice." Decision Memorandum, at cmt. 1 (internal footnotes omitted).

% We note that the United States wants the Panel to believe that in good faith, USDOC made a mistake
in not correcting the clerical error in NKK’s preliminary dumping margin, which was not corrected until the
final determination. See US Response to Japan's Question 30, para. 44. But, then USDOC was justified in
rejecting NKK’s and NSC's inadvertent, good faith errors. USDOC's double-standard should not be
overlooked.

1 In the same 22 February 1999, submission that included the weight conversion factor, NKK
submitted seventeen other corrections along with new transaction-specific sales lists. On the same day, but in a
separate submission, NKK submitted five other corrections to its cost of production and constructed value
databases. Over aweek later, on 4 March 1999, NKK submitted six more corrections and revised sales lists and
cost databases. Thisisin addition to one correction presented on 8 March 1999, at the beginning of verification.
(See Exhibit JP-95 for a summary of these corrections.) USDOC accepted and relied upon all of these
corrections, even those that affected a large percentage of sales. Thisisin stark contrast to USDOC's refusal to
accept NKK’s weight conversion factor, which affected only a small number of sales. Thisis in addition to
fifteen corrections NKK submitted in its 25 January 1999, Supplemental Section B Questionnaire Response.

Similarly, on 22 February 1999, NSC submitted five corrections and additions to previously submitted
information, along with its weight conversion factor. Then, at the beginning of each of USDOC'’s verifications
of NSC and its US affiliate (conducted consecutively from 22 February 1999 through 12 March 1999), NSC
presented a total of eleven more corrections discovered during verification preparation. Finaly, in a
1 March 1999 submission to USDOC, NSC submitted three additional corrections. (See Exhibit JP-96 for a
summary of these corrections.) In addition, on 1 March 1999, NSC submitted at USDOC's direction, corrected
data, which affected every US and home market sale. In contrast, the conversion factor submitted by NSC on
22 February 1999 affected only atiny handful of US sales.

92'For example, USDOC repeatedly asked NKK for transaction-specific movement expenses — in the
original Section B questionnaire and in the same supplemental questionnaire that asked NKK to "clearly
describe the conversion factor { NKK} used." NKK explained that such information was not available at the
time and instead provided estimated movement expenses that approximated actual expenses. NKK corrected its
calculation of movement expenses in the 22 February 1999, submission that provided the conversion factor.
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(i) Paragraph 3 of Annex Il requires authorities to take everything into account in determining
whether facts available are warranted

95. The United States argues that Paragraph 3 of Annex Il requires authorities to consider only that
information that was 'inter alia timely."® This argument stretches the meaning of timeliness and
ignores the other elements of this provision. Paragraph 3 states that:

All information which is verifiable, which is appropriately submitted so that it can be
used in the investigation without undue difficulties, which is supplied in a timely
fashion, and, where applicable, which is supplied in a medium or computer language
requested by the authorities, should be taken into account when determinations are
made. (Emphasis added.)

The United States makes an unjustified leap from "timely fashion” to "submitted within the
authority’s questionnaire deadlines.” With a flourish of Latin, the United States also completely
ignores other elements of this paragraph, which provide important rules for what information
authorities should take into account.

96. Paragraph 3 references "undue difficulties’ to address the manageability of the anti-dumping
invegtigation from both perspectives. placing the burden on respondents to provide useable
information and on authorities to take that useable information into account. The facts of this case
show that USDOC could have used the conversion factors without undue difficulties. The United
States mischaracterizes the impact of using the submitted factors as "entirely new databases** The
factors were actudly just a couple of numbers that USDOC could have added to one line of its
dumping calculation program. The sale-specific raw data did not change. The United States therefore
has not demonstrated that it was prejudiced by NKK’s and NSC's submission of the conversion
factors after questionnaire deadlines. The fact that USDOC easily verified NKK's factor
demondtrates this lack of prgjudice.

97. The United States also ignores the requirement that authorities should take into account
"verifiable' information. Importantly, USDOC actually verified NKK’s weight conversion factor. In
NSC’scase, USDOC was prepared to, but then affirmatively refused to, verify NSC's factor and the
evidence NSC had proposed for USDOC's review. NKK and NSC met their burden of providing
verifiable information in conformity with Paragraph 3.

98. Although timeliness is an important factor in Paragraph 3, these dher considerations must be
weighed in determining whether submitted information will be used in the authority’s anaysis.
Perhaps redlizing this, the United States argues that the AD Agreement does not compd the authority
to accept late-provided information.”® This is not Japan’s position. Japan is simply arguing that
reasonableness is by definition contextual. Other provisions demonstrate that the AD Agreement does
not contemplate the interpretation of "reasonable time" suggested by the United States:

The reference in Article 6.13 requires authorities to be mindful of difficulties, and this will
impact the notion of "reasonable period.”

The "best of its ability" phrase in Paragraph 5, Annex |l warns authorities to not act too rashly
in disregarding less than perfect information, requiring a more reasoned analysis of a party’s
participation.

93 USFirst Submission, para. B-137.

9 US Response to Japan's Question 9, para. 14. Again, we note that unlike the weight conversion
factor voluntarily submitted by NSC, the changes required by USDOC impacted every US and home market
sale reported by NSC.

9 USFirst Submission, paras. B-159 to B-160.
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The "special circumspection” phrase in Paragraph 7, Annex |l further obligates authorities to
take care in applying information from other sources.

99. Thus deadlines alone cannot determine whether information is timely. In regecting NKK’s and
NSC's conversion factors, USDOC failed to consider the circumstances. The factors were submitted
in a timely fashion; therefore, the information "{should have been} taken into account when
determinations { were} made.”

(c) The United States demanded an inappropriate standard of cooperation under Annex |1

100. The United States claims that NKK and NSC failed to cooperate smply because the
submitted information was late. The United States impermissibly blurs Paragraphs 5 and 7 of Annex
I1. Paragraph 5 governs when an authority must accept proffered information instead of resorting to
factsavailable. Paragraph 7 concerns the separate decision of what information an authority can use
onceit is authorized to use facts available.

(i) The United Sates ignored the requirements of Paragraph 7 in choosing adver se inferences

101. The United States asserts that Paragraph 7 of Annex Il does not require a finding that the
party withheld necessary information.*® Paragraph 7 states, "if an interested party does not cooperate
and thus relevant information is being withheld from authorities, this situation could lead to a result
which is less favourable to the party than if the party did cooperate.” (Emphasis added.) Thus, the
possihility of "less favourable" results arises only in those "situations' where information 'is being
withheld."

102.  There was no withholding here. The moment the companies determined they could provide
the requested information to USDOC, they did so. This is far different than if USDOC were to
discover, for example, low-priced export sales during a verification that the company had
purposefully tried to conceal. Rather, NKK and NSC provided the very information requested by
USDOC in sufficient time for verification and incorporation into USDOC’'s dumping anayss.
Information was not withheld and NKK and NSC fully cooperated.

(i) Paragraph 5 mandates acceptance of NKK’s and NSC’ scorrections

103.  Citing Paragraph 5 of Annex Il, the United States claims that NKK’s and NSC's "reaction” to
the preliminary determination demonstrated that the companies could have provided the information
at any time, but failed to cooperate to the best of their abilities by not providing the information
sooner.®” This argument demongtrates the unfairness of the US position. The United States is trying
to use NKK’s and NSC's cooperation against them. That is, according to US logic, NKK and NSC
somehow proved their lack of cooperation by cooperating. The United States is also suggesting that
any reaction to a preiminary determination, legal or factua, is manipulative. This position
undermines the main purpose of notice, which is to give parties a reasonable opportunity to respond.

104.  The facts of this case show that NKK and NSC responded fully to USDOC's extensive
informational demands and that USDOC's decision to reject the conversion factors violated
Paragraph 5. NKK and NSC provided the very information requested by USDOC and therefore the
information was "ideal in al respects.” NKK and NSC aso acted to the best of their abilities. The
US position is contingent on the premise that the "best of its ability” equates to meeting questionnaire
deadlines, just as "reasonable time" equates to questionnaire deadlines. Rather, "ability" must be

%|d. para. B-162, n.237.
71d. paras. B-150 to B-152.
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assessed within the context of a variety of factors, including allowance for mistakes in an accelerated
investigation involving large volumes of information.

@iti)  In both instances, USDOC ignored NKK’s and NSC's additional cooperation during
verification

105.  As further evidence of their cooperation, NKK and NSC were fully prepared to verify the
accuracy of corrections submitted before or during verification, including the conversion factors.
NKK and NSC reasonably believed that the conversion factors and al of the other corrections would
be verified and then used in USDOC's fina dumping calculation. The United States now tries to
argue that the verification agenda did not create an expectation that USDOC would verify the weight
conversion factors®  This argument ignores the fact that USDOC actually verified NKK’s
information and until the last moment continued to assure NSC that it would verify its factor.
USDOC's actions at the time do not support the US Government’'s belated interpretation of its
verification agenda. The United States also claims that the agendas show that USDOC intended to
verify NKK’sand NSC' s inability to provide the conversion factor. This places NKK and NSC in an
impossible situation: face facts available for submitting the facts or face facts available for not
submitting the facts and failing verification. This argument also shows the results-oriented nature of
USDOC' s decision.

106. The US argument that there is no obligation in the Agreement to verify the conversion factors
is smilarly unconvincing. The US argument is vaid only if it is successful in arguing that it was
justified in not accepting the conversion factors. But, if the US argument is true, why did it verify
NKK’sfactor? Verification of NKK’s factor demonstrates that USDOC will in fact verify items that
are not ultimately part of their findings. USDOC routinely verifies other issues, such as US indirect
selling expenses, that are not aways used in the dumping calculation.

2. The United States improperly dismisses the duties the AD Agreement places on
authoritiesto conduct a fair investigation

(@ NKK and NSC were entitled to reasonable guidance from USDOC under Article 6.13

107. The United States claims that USDOC's requests for information were clear and in
accordance with Article 6.1.° The US position would make sense if USDOC had requested
information normally maintained by NKK or NSC, or something at least familiar to the companies. It
is undisputed that steel companies commonly sell products based on actual weight and theoretical
weight. The companies in this investigation, however, do not normally convert one type of weight to
the other. Therefore, USDOC's request effectively required the companies to develop a conversion
factor that: (1) neither company maintained in the normal course of business, (2) neither company had
ever used before, and (3) was entirely foreign to either company. USDOC's lack of clarity in
requesting this obscure conversion factor congtitutes a failure to establish the facts properly.

108. The United States overlooks that this was, for al practical purposes, the only request for
information that was not routinely understood and accommodated by NKK and NSC. The companies
provided volumes of other information. When USDOC did not fully understand the information
provided or when it needed additiona information, it issued supplementa questions to NKK and NSC
to clarify their responses. With respect to the conversion factors, USDOC's requests for information
from NKK were ambiguous and confusing.

109.  This is demonstrated by the difficulties NKK and NSC had in obtaining the information.
NSC repeatedly informed USDOC it was impossible under any circumstances to obtain the

% |d. para. B-170.
% 1d. paras. B-165 to B-169.
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conversion factor because the weight data necessary to calculate it did not exist.'®® Without any
guidance or assistance from USDOC, NSC itself discovered that actua weights were recorded at the
production facility and immediately informed USDOC. Similarly, NKK did not receive sufficient
"notice of the information which the authorities require” because USDOC offered vague and even
contradictory instructions. The supplemental questionnaire to NKK shows that even USDOC did not
entirely understand what it was asking for in itsinitid questionnaire. The supplemental questionnaire
actually presumed that NKK had submitted a factor, when in fact it had not. NKK sought additional
guidance and was mided by USDOC officias, who told NKK’s US attorney that it should just
confirm its statement that a conversion factor was impossible!®  This cannot be what the AD
Agreement contemplates with respect to sufficient guidance that results in a proper establishment of
the facts.

110.  The United States also questions why there is no record of the conversation between NKK’s
attorney and USDOC. There are many elements to an investigation that investigators do not routinely
memorialize in the written record. In fact, USDOC failed to put a variety of information on the record
in this very investigation. This is just another example of USDOC's failure to establish the record

properly.

111.  The United States aso incorrectly limits Article 6.13 to small companies!®® The United
States effectively writes the phrase "in particular” out of the Agreement. Thisis by no means limiting
language, but an acknowledgement that small companies are more likely to experience difficulties in
responding the information requests of authorities. Although Article 6.13 emphasizes the needs of
smal companies, it is not designed to protect small companies exclusively. Rather, Article 6.13
embraces the generd notion that the authorities should be senstive to dl forms of difficulties
experienced by parties. The fact that NKK and NSC were able to provide al other information
without difficulty, but obviously struggled with the conversion factor should have been a clear
indication to USDOC that this particular request prompted a difficulty.

112. The United States seems to take the position that large companies should be left to fend for

themselves and do not deserve USDOC's assistance. For example, the United States implies that
service of KSC's questionnaire responses placed NKK and NSC on notice of how to caculate a
weight conversion factor. Armed with this knowledge, NKK and NSC therefore could have
submitted the factors within questionnaire deadlines without any assistance from USDOC!* This
assumption is incorrect both factualy and legaly. Like NSC, KSC told USDOC that it did not
calculate a conversion factor in its normal course of business. Rather, for the purposes of this anti-

dumping investigation, KSC calculated a better estimate of the weight of its theoretical weight
sales!®™ NKK’sand NSC's counsel could not predict whether this better estimate would satisfy
USDOC. Instead, under Article 6.13 of the AD Agreement, USDOC had the burden of informing
NKK and NSC of an acceptable methodology for calculating the factor, which it could have easly
donein its supplemental questionnaires.

113.  Furthermore, USDOC' s vague instructions in the original and supplemental questionnaires do
not congtitute "practicable” assistance. The contradictory guidance given NKK is the antithesis of
assistance. Practicable means assistance that the authority is capable of providing. When it was
obvious that NKK misunderstood the request for a conversion factor, particularly in light of

100 NSC Section B Questionnaire Response, at B-22 (Dec. 22, 1998) (Exh. JP-29); NSC Supplemental
Section B Questionnaire Response, at Supp. B-24 (Jan. 26, 1999) (Exh. JP-29).

101 The United States implies that the conversation between NKK’'s US attorney and the relevant
USDOC official may not have occurred. It isinteresting that the United States did not submit an affidavit from
the officialsin charge of denying this.

192 ys First Submission, paras. B-171 to B-172.

103 Ys Response to Panel Question 24, para. 6.

104 See K SC Supplemental Questionnaire Response, at 19 (25 Jan. 1999) (Exh. JP-49(f)).
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USDOC's contradictory and misleading oral guidance to NKK, USDOC was more than capable of

clarifying its request. When NSC stated that it was impossible to provide the information requested
by the USDOC because the necessary underlying data did not exist, USDOC should have offered
"practicable” assistance in the form of suggestions about information that NSC could provide as a
substitute for the assertedly unavailable information. Instead, USDOC gave no meaningful assistance
to either NKK or NSC with their difficulties in responding to this request. The United States thereby

failed to meet its obligations under Article 6.13.

(b) The fair comparison requirements of Article 2.4 continue to apply to the calculation of NKK’s
and NSC's margins

114.  Article 2.4 requires authorities to make a "fair comparison . . . between the export price and
the normd value." The United States claims that it complied with Article 2.4 in applying adverse
facts available to NKK’s and NSC's margins. However, the use of facts available in the AD
Agreement presumes that the authority will apply facts available only where necessary. Here, to the
extent facts available was necessary, it related to a conversion factor and the recalculation of US price
for NSC, or normal value for NKK. The facts available mode does not suddenly excuse authorities of
al of their obligations. It smply is a remedy for filling a void in the information needed to calculate
margins. USDOC could have used some form of conversion factor to generate surrogate US prices
for NSC and normal values for NKK. This would have then alowed USDOC to caculate margins
using the remaining information for NKK and NSC. Instead, USDOC made no "comparison’
between export price and norma vaue for the affected NSC sales, but smply applied an
unreasonably high margin. For NKK, USDOC chose norma values without regard to how closely
those underlying sdes related to the overall average norma vaue for the product categories that
included the theoretical weight sales at issue. Such an approach is not a "fair comparison” as
contemplated by Article 2.4.

115.  The United States wrongly interprets the facts available tool as something that, when used,
renders other provisions of the AD Agreement meaningless. The US —Atlantic Salmon decision
demondtrates this interpretation is not permissible. That Panel admonished the United States for
acting inconsstently with Article 2.4 by failing to consider the representativeness of the resulting
margin in deciding which facts available to use’®  Unreasonably inflated margins are not
representative of the displaced price comparison if there is no demonstration that the facts available
were at dl related to the underlying sales. The US First Submission does not respond to Japan’'s
claims that the facts available were not rationaly related to the theoretical weight sales and therefore
offers no proof that the resulting margins were representative. The United States did not meet its
burden of making afair comparison in accordance with Article 2.4.

116. The United States also asserts that if it is required to only use facts available selectively, this
would nullify the authority in Paragraph 7 of Annex Il to select facts that are less favourable*®
Paragraph 7 does not provide an affirmative allowance to use punitive facts available.® In addition,
to the extent it does, the punitive facts available should be used selectively, and only with respect to
those facts not obtained. Here, this meant certain US prices and home market prices for NKK and
NSC.

105 United States—Imposition of Anti-Dumping Duties on Imports of Fresh and Chilled Atlantic
Salmon from Norway, adopted 27 April 1994, 41S/229 BISD, para. 450 ("U.S.—Atlantic Salmon™).

108 US First Submission, para. B-174.

197 On a related issue, the United States has argued that it does not select facts available that are
certainly adverse, but sufficiently adverse. See US Response to Japan Questions 5 and 6, paras. 7-8.
Surprisingly, it is the US position that it did not know for sure that the facts available USDOC applied to NKK
and NSC were adverse because "it does not have the actual information against which to compare its choice of
presumably adverseinformation.” 1d. Thissimply isnot true. USDOC had the actual weight conversion factor
for each company. Therefore, not only did USDOC act improperly by rejecting the factors and resorting to facts
available, it knew the facts available it applied were adverse.
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V. ALL-OTHERSRATE

117.  Article 9.4 dtates that the all-others rate shall not be based on margins calculated using facts
available. It does not distinguish between margins calculated using partia facts available versus those
using total facts available.

118,  The United States thinks that this provison contains a word limiting its applicability to
margins based entirely on facts available, but no such limiting word exist.'®® As Brazil points out,
"the word ‘entire does not appear in Article 9.4."% Dumping margins calculated on the basis of
partial facts available are "margins established under the circumstances referred to in Paragraph 8 of
Article 6,""'° and therefore they are not permitted to be used in calculating the all-others rate.

119.  The United States complains that it would be "impossible” for USDOC to calculate an al-
othersrate if Article 9.4 forbids the use of margins based on partia facts available, because all three
individually-investigated respondents were assigned overall margins based on partia facts
available™ Nothing in Article 9.4, however, prevents USDOC from using a composite of the
portions of the investigated companies margins not based on facts available. In many cases, USDOC
will have determined a margin based on the company's information and then add a few distorting
adjustments to that margin based on adverse facts available -- indeed, that is precisely what USDOC
didto KSC, NSC, and NKK in this case. Having added the distorting adjustments, USDOC could just
as eadily leave them out, and determine margins based solely on the companies own information.

120. The United States aso makes a series of policy arguments not grounded in the AD
Agreement. First, the United States notes that calculating margins is a complicated endeavour, and
claims that authorities need discretion with the use of facts available to fill gaps in respondents
information. ™**  Japan does not deny that anti-dumping duty calculations are complicated. The issue
for purposes of Article 9.4, however, is to whom the facts available are applied when a gap appearsin
the record. If an authority legitimately determines that a company it is investigating has withheld the
necessary information, that is a different issue from applying facts available in the caculation of the
al-others margin. The companies that must live with this rate have not even been given the
opportunity to provide any information. The AD Agreement is clear that companies not individually
investigated should not be affected by the behaviour of investigated companies.

121.  Second, the United States claims that the result of using facts-available rates in the calculation
of the dl-others rate is neutral, because nothing at all is known about the pricing of other companies.
The United States implies that companies in the all-others category could be dumping a a higher
margin than the individually-investigated respondents.*® Japan believes that the important question
under the AD Agreement is the following: why is nothing known about the company? If nothing is
known because the company has not cooperated or has been unable to provide the information, then a
resort to facts available may be appropriate. But if nothing is known because USDOC decided not to
devote any time or resources to investigating that company, as is the case with the companies in the

108 YS First Submission, paras. B-180, B-183, B-189.

109 Brazil’s Third Party Submission, para. I1.D.2. The European Communities also appears to share
Japan’ sinterpretation of Article 9.4 that margins based even partially on facts available must be excluded from
the margin calculation for companies that were not individually investigated. See Oral Statement by the
European Communities, para. 8.

10 Article 9.4 of the AD Agreement.

M1 ySFirst Submission, para. B-194.

112 See US First Submission, paras. B-199 to B-200.

113 See US First Submission, para. B-198, n.262.
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all-others category, then it is not permissible—indeed, it is not fair—to calculate the all-others rate
with margins based on facts available.*

V. AFFILIATED SALESIN THE HOME MARKET

A. EXCLUSION OF SALESTO AFFILIATES

1. The 99.5 percent test neither determines whether a sale is in the ordinary course of
trade nor resultsin afair comparison

122.  Article 2.1 requires a determination of the dumping margin based on home-market saes "in
the ordinary course of trade," and Article 2.4 requires a "fair comparison” between the home market
and export prices. USDOC's 99.5 percent test -- which disregards sales to any affiliated customer
unless they are priced 99.5 percent or greater than the average price to unaffiliated customers --
accomplishes neither. This test is too smple and mechanical to resolve whether the sales are within
the "ordinary course of trade" or not, and its systematic disregard of only low-priced sales prevents a
"fair comparison.”> When the United States attempts to rationalize the 99.5 percent test on the
merits, it smply underscores the inherent unfairness and unreasonableness of the test. Not
surprisingly, not a single third party to this proceeding endorses the US practice at issue.

123. The United States asserts that since Article 2.1 of the AD Agreement does not specify how to
evaluate whether a sale is in the "ordinary course of trade," then any conceivable test is acceptable. ™

The United States misinterprets the standard of review,'*” and fails to reconcile its interpretation with
other provisons of the AD Agreement, such as Article 24. The United States has essentidly
admitted that it applies a double standard when it comes to determining whether sdes to affiliates
shall be included in the normal value calculation: low-priced sales are excluded if they are as little as
0.5 percent less than prices charged to non-affiliates™® but high-priced sales are excluded only if they
are "aberrationally high."*® Nowhere does the United States articulate why home market prices that

M4 In response to Japan's argument that the calculation of the all-others rate in this particular
investigation violated the AD Agreement, the United States notes that SMI did not make exactly the same
argument to USDOC that Japan now makes to the Panel. See US First Submission, para. B-36, n.91. SMI
focused on the use of adverse inferences against KSC and how that inflated the all-others rate. See Sumitomo
Metal Indus., Ltd. Case Brief, at 4-5 (12 Apr. 1999) (Exh. JP-48). SMI’s position in this investigation,
however, only underscores the flaws in the US statute and in particular its distinction between margins based
"entirely" and margins based only "partially" on facts available. SMI’s lawyers made a strategic decision to try
to work within the US framework and minimize the inflation of the all-others rate by urging USDOC not to
punish resPondentsfor apetitioner’ srefusal to cooperate.

Thetest also violates the spirit of Article 2.2, which sets forth the circumstances under which home-
market sales may be excluded as below cost or in insufficient quantities. Article 2.2.1 illustrates how carefully
an authority must determine whether a sale should be excluded as outside the ordinary course of trade. As
Korea notes, Article 2.2.1 specifies that below-cost sales "may" be disregarded only under very specific
circumstances. The AD Agreement thus places very strict limits on an authority’s discretion to disregard even
below-cost sales; a fortiori, above-cost sales cannot be disregarded in an arbitrary manner. See Korea's Third
Party Submission, paras. I1.E.5-7.

116 See US First Submission, paras. B-214, B-217.

17 see Section 11.B.2 above.

118 The United States glosses over the important difference between the two-percent de minimis test for
dumping margins and the severe 0.5-percent test for sales to affiliates. See US First Submission, para. B-221,
n.308. Yet the language cited by the United States makes Japan’s point even more compelling. Deciding
whether an affiliation affects the pricing "may involve situations where the outcome is close and the exercise of
human judgment is unavoidable.” United States—Anti-Dumping Duty on Dynamic Random Access Memory
Semiconductors (DRAMS) of One Megabit or Above From Korea, adopted 19 Mar. 1999, WT/DS99/R, at para.
4.661. That is precisely the point. The hair-trigger test of 0.5 percent makes no sense given the complicated
nature of the analysisUSDOC purportsto undertake.

19 Us First Submission, para. B-228.
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are too low show that the relationship affected prices, but that home market prices that are too high
would not show the same thing. This double standard reveals that the true purpose of the 99.5 percent
test is to inflate the magnitude of the dumping margin, which the United States essentially admits, **°
not to determine whether sales to affiliates are in the ordinary course of trade. This is neither "fair"
(Art. 2.4) nor does it indicate whether the sales are indeed "ordinary” (Art. 2.1).

124.  Contrary to the US argument,'** the 99.5 percent test does not focus on the relationship with
an affiliated company. As Japan explained at the first meeting with the Panedl, assume a parent
company is running a loss, but owns a subsidiary whose profits are quite high. Under such
circumstances, the parent company would have an incentive to sell to its subsidiary at higher prices
than it sells to other customers to reduce the profit of the subsidiary and consequently reduce its
taxable income. Since the parent company is running a loss anyway, the parent’s additional revenue
would not incresse its tax burden. In other words, in such a Situation the affiliation tends to result in
high prices between the companies, not low prices. The prices are distorted by the affiliation; they are
therefore not at arm’s length. Yet, USDOC's so-called "arm’s length test" would not exclude those
sales because its test addresses only whether the average price to afiliates is lower than the average
price to non-affiliates.

125.  When asked by the Panel to comment on this hypothetical situation, the US response only
confirmed Japan’s concerns. The United States allows only that it "might" disregard such high-priced
home-market sales, and only if a respondent affirmatively demonstrates that they are outside the
ordinary course of trade.*** Y et the United States will always automatically exclude all home-market
sales to affiliates below the rigid 99.5 percent test, and makes no further inquiry. This is precisely
what Japan means by a double standard: substantially equivaent or dightly lower prices never make
it into the normal value calculation, but high prices -- even up to "aberrationaly high" levels -- are
presumed to be in the ordinary course of trade. The United States digs an even deeper hole for itself
when it tries to portray this policy as favorable to respondents. The United States sates that in
Japan’s hypothetical situation, assuming the high-priced sales pass the 99.5 percent test, respondents
would be "free" to digtort normal value downward by reporting downstream resales that are below
cost™®® This point, if true'** simply demonstrates that USDOC is not trying to use the 99.5 percent
test to eliminate sales "outside the ordinary course of trade" at al. What better example is there of
prices being influenced by the fact of affiliation, than the fact that the downstream reseller
systematicaly sdlls at aloss? Yet the United States insists that such sales would be acceptable to
USDOC under the 99.5 percent test.

126. The United States argues the 99.5 percent test results in a "fair comparison” because
Article 2.4 is self-contained -- that is, a comparison is inherently "fair" if an attempt is made to adjust
the prices for differences such as taxes or the level of trade™ The first sentence of Article 2.4,
however, stands on its own as an independent requirement. The requirement of a "fair comparison”
did not appear a al in the Tokyo Round Anti-Dumping Code, but was specifically added, as a
separate sentence, during the Uruguay Round.™®® This addition of new language must serve some
purpose. As Japan has demonstrated -- and as the European Communities, Brazil, Chile, and Korea

120 see US Response to Panel Question 34, paras. 33-35 (focusing on the alleged importance of
excluding low-priced sales).

121 Spe US First Submission, paras. 211-213.

122 s Response to Panel Question 37, para. 41.

123 s Response to Panel Question 37, para. 43. Even more absurd is the US claim that respondents
should be grateful that USDOC did not apply current US practice to exclude those higher priced sales and use
instead even higher priced downstream sales.

124 Japan frankly questions whether, in a real investigation, USDOC would accept such below-cost
downstream resales as "in the ordinary course of trade.”

125 5pe US First Submission, para. B-219.

126 Compare Article 2:6 of the Tokyo Round Anti-Dumping Code with Article 2.4 of the Uruguay
Round Anti-Dumping Agreement.
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also have concluded -- the 99.5 percent test is unfair because it systematicaly inflates the dumping
margin without truly determining whether the sales it eliminates were outside the ordinary course of
trade or, conversaly, whether the sales it retains were in the ordinary course of trade.

127.  The United States argues that Japan is trying to impose its own concept of "unfairness,” and
that the Panel cannot make such judgments.’?” It is hard to imagine a clearer example of "unfair"
than a test that is one-sided: it permits higher prices (and thus higher dumping margins), but
precludes lower prices (and thus lower dumping margins). The test simply has no rational
relationship to reality, and reflects an outcome-determinative approach.

128.  The United States also asserts that the 99.5 percent test "has no predictable or necessary effect
on the calculated dumping margin” because individual saes that might be below the 99.5 percent
threshold are included in normal value.*?® This argument ignores the systemic unfairness that all the
sales to this customer are, on average, higher than the sales of similarly-situated customers whose
purchases do not pass the 99.5 percent test. If salesto al affiliated parties are "inherently suspect,"**°
what is fair about retaining only high-priced sales?

129, The United States claims that NKK’s proposed standard deviation test errs on the side of
including affiliated-party transactions that might actually be affected by the relationship.** Such a
test, by definition, eliminates low-priced sales as well as the "aberrationaly high" prices identified in
the US submission. Such atest is not one-sided, and is objectively reasonable.’** Though the United
States may be correct that the margin calculation does not rely on standard-deviation anaysis* the
arm’s-length test poses a different question. Dumping margins simply measure differences in price.
The arm’s-length test is supposed to measure, solely on the basis of price, whether a sale to an
affiliate has been influenced by the relationship or is outside the ordinary course of trade -- a more
complicated endeavour.

130.  Japan does not posit that a standard deviation test is the only way to do this;, Japan smply
wants the Panel to know that aternatives were presented to USDOC in this investigation, that
standard deviation is a more reasonable way to determine whether a sale is in the ordinary course of
trade based solely on price, and that USDOC has not shown any interest in serioudly considering such
inherently fair alternatives.

2. The" everyone else doesit" excuseisnot only weak, but also wrong

131.  Ultimately, we are left with what the United States apparently believes is its best defense of
its practice of excluding sales to &ffiliates. "everyone else does it." According to the United States,
other mgor users of the anti-dumping laws have similar rules for excluding home-market sales to
affiliates from the normal-value calculation.*® This defense does not rise to the level of subsequent
practice™* and is both irrelevant and wrong. It isirrelevant because the other Members statutes and
practices have never been reviewed for WTO consistency by a panel. It is wrong because the

127 ys First Submission, para. 219.

128 S Response to Panel Question 36, para. 37.

129 ys Response to Panel Question 34, para. 33.

130 Ys First Submission, paras. B-223 to B-224.

131 Japan refers the Panel to the affidavit submitted from two statisticians, both of whom have held
professional positionsin the US Government, concerning the inherent biasin the 99.5 percent test. See Exhibit
JP-56.

132 See US First Submission, para. B-225.

133 See US First Submission, paras. B-206 to B-207.

134 See Section 11.B.2.b above.



WT/DS184/R
Page C-39

language from those statutes quoted by the United States indicates that the other countries have more
thoughtful and less mechanical approaches than the 99.5 percent test.'*

132.  The European Communities, Brazil and Korea, whose practices have been cited by the United
States, specificaly support Japan on this question and agree that USDOC's practice is unreasonably
biased and mechanica.™*® There is no country other than the United States that rejects sales to
affiliates smply because they are sold at average prices less than 99.5 percent of the average price to
non-affiliates.

3. Article 2.2 makes clear that any test for finding salesto be outside the ordinary cour se of
trade must be morerigorousthan USDOC’s 99.5 per cent test

133.  Article 2.2 sets forth the circumstances in which an authority may rely on something other
than a producer’ s own sales in the home market to calculate norma value when there are no salesin
the ordinary course of trade. The only outside-the-ordinary-course-of-trade saes identified in this
provison are the below-cost sales discussed in Article 2.2.1. This provison makes clear that
choosing to exclude sales as outside the ordinary course of trade is a rigorous undertaking. Even
below-cost sales cannot be deemed outside the ordinary course of trade unless they are made (a)
within an extended period of time, (b) in substantial quantities, and (c) at prices which do not provide
for the recovery of all costs within a reasonable period of time. The fact that the sales are below cost
is alone not sufficient to judtify their exclusion. Rather, each one of the specified conditions must be
met.

134.  Similar rigor must apply if an authority is to exclude sales to affiliates. It is not sufficient that
the relationship between the companies can be as low as a five percent shareholding and that the
average price between the companies is merely 0.5 percent lower than the average price charged to
unaffiliated companies.™’ It strains common sense that such an easy test could be permitted given the
rigor with which authorities must analyze below-cost sales.

B. REPLACEMENT WITH DOWNSTREAM RESALES

135.  Even assuming the sales to affiliates are deemed outside the ordinary course of trade, the AD
Agreement does not permit USDOC to replace sales to affiliates with downstream resdles, as the
United States does in "most" cases™® USDOC may use other home-market saes, or, if there are no
home-market saes in the ordinary course of trade, Article 2.2 specifies that it must use only third-
country sales or constructed value. Other than a desire to increase the burden on respondents, the
United States has not identified any rationale for its policy.

135 The EC excludes sales to affiliates unless it determines that the prices are "unaffected by the
relationship.” US First Submission, para. B-206, n.266. So do Australia, New Zealand, Argentinaand Korea, in
similar language. Id. para. B-206, nn.268-70. Brazil's statute includes the precatory "may," and hinges
exclusion on a determination of whether "related prices and costs are comparable to those of operations among
partiesthat are not so related.” Id. para. B-206, n.267.

136 See Brazil’s Third Party Submission, Part 111.C; Brazil’s Response to the Questions to the Third
Parties, Question 48; Oral Statement by the European Communities, paras. 20-21; European Communities’
Response to the Questions to the Third Parties, Question 48; Korea's Third Party Submission, Part II.E, F;
Korea' s Response to the Questions to the Third Parties, Question 48; see also Chile’'s Third Party Submission,
8-9.

137 This applies with equal force to tests that do not even consider relative price levels. The United
States claims in response to Panel Question 34 that USDOC "could reasonably have disregarded al ... sales {to
affiliates} in the home market, regardiess of price levels to affiliates, as Canada and Mexico do, and relied
solely on arm’s length sales to unaffiliated parties.” US Response to Panel Question 34, para. 33. Japan
disagrees. The 99.5 percent test is unfair not merely because it excludes low-priced sales to affiliates, but also
because it assumes that such prices are low because of affiliation, regardless of the level of affiliation and even
when the affiliation is as low asfive percent.

138 US Response to Panel Question 35, para. 36.
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1. Article 2.1 doesnot justify use of downstream salesin the home mar ket

136. The United States claims that downstream sales "clearly come within® home market sales
under Article 2.1. In doing so, however, the United States makes no effort to explain why.

137.  The US position on thisissue isindefensible. Article 2.1 merely defines dumping. Nowhere
does this provision discuss using downstream sales. The United States is reading into the AD
Agreement concepts that are not there. The expansive reading the United States has adopted would
permit all sorts of alternatives to using a respondent’s sales, as long as they are in the ordinary course
of trade and destined for consumption in the exporting country. Such an expansive reading, however,
ignores clear preferences in the AD Agreement, such as determining dumping margins for individua
exporters and/or producers (Article 6.10). This preference explains why constructed value is
caculated based on production costs (Article 2.2), not the costs of a reseller. There is smply no
reason to interpret Article 2.1 to permit the US practice.

138.  Article 2.3 specificaly alows the use of downstream prices in the export context, but not in
the context of home-market sales'*® Article 2.3 exists because there is no aternative for export price
to a specific market other than some price a which sales are made in that specific export market.
Therefore, Article 2.3 creates a mechanism for constructing an export price for that market. Thereis
no such need for this policy on the home market side, because there are other alternatives, including
other home market sales and, based on Article 2.2, constructed vaue or third country sales (if the
remaini ﬂ%} sdes are too few). Nothing in the AD Agreement permits the use of resdes in the home
market.

2. If there are no home-market sales in the ordinary course of trade, then Article 2.2
requiresuse of third-country salesor constructed value.

139. If USDOC does not believe sales to affiliates are in the ordinary course of trade, then it has
three choices. The first choice is to use the respondent’ s other home-market sales!** When there are
no saes in the ordinary course of trade in the home market, or when such sales do not permit a proper
comparison then the second and third choices present themselves: third-country sales or constructed
value. Where downstream home-market sales in the ordinary course of trade exist, however, the
United States thinks USDOC may not reasonably use other non-home market based alternatives.'** In
this sense, the United States claims that the particular provisions of Article 2.2 and 2.3, if read to
prohibit replacement of saes to affiliates with the downstream resdes, lead to an "absurd result.”
Japan disagrees. When USDOC rejects home-market sales to an affiliate on the basis of the 99.5
percent test, USDOC is declaring that these sales are not in the ordinary course or do not permit a
proper comparison. Assuming that judgment is correct -- a point Japan contests -- the question

139 See Japan'’ s First Submission, paras. 162 to 164.

140 The United States responds to Japan's analysis with an attack on the viability of the maxim
"expressio unius est exclusio alterius.” That is, the language must be viewed in context, and the United States
thinks it is inappropriate to infer any substantive meaning from the specification of some concepts and the
omission of others. See US First Submission, paras. B-232, B-234 to B-235. Attributing meaning to text is the
essence of treaty interpretation. The textual approach of Article 31 of the Vienna Convention rests on certain
"logical presumptions,” including specifically the presumption that "express mention excludes other items
(expressio unius est exclusio alterius)." In fact, the United States and the US steel industry recently embraced
"expressio unius" as a tool for interpreting the Uruguay Round Agreements in the Panel proceedingsin U.S—
Leaded Bar. See US First Submission, para. 154, Attachment 2.1 to the Panel Report, WT/DS138R (23 Dec.
1999) & Exhibit USA-25 (excerpts attached as Exh. JP-98).

141 The United States does not even acknowledge that the other home-market sales should be the
primary recourse, but identifies only the downstream resales as the "ordinary course" sales available for the
normal-value calculation. See US Response to Panel Question 33, paras. 29-30.

142 See US First Submission, para. B-234.
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becomes what alternative prices USDOC may use. By specifying the dternatives, Article 2.2 does
not permit USDOC to use downstream resales.

140.  The United States also suggests that Japan’s interpretation of the AD Agreement would allow
respondents to manipulate the normal-value calculation by structuring all home-market sales through
affiliated resellers, apparently with the expectation that USDOC would be left with no home-market
sales in the ordinary course of trade!*® First, Japan does not accept the premise that all saes to
afiliates will always be outside the ordinary course of trade. Even if such a decision is made, then
indeed Article 2.2 requires the authorities to calculate normal value only on the basis of third-country
sales or constructed value. In fact, inits officia interna "Antidumping Manua," USDOC instructs its
saff to do exactly what the United States now claims is "absurd": use third-country sales or
constructed value where there are no home-market sales in the ordinary course of trade.***

3. The use of downstream resales also violates Article 2.4's" fair comparison” requirement

141. USDOC' s use of downstream resales also violates the "fair comparison” requirement because
it results in an "apples to oranges' comparison.™*  The United States insists this is not so, because
USDOC makes level of trade adjustments -- something the Japanese mills allegedly never requested
and Japan allegedly does not even acknowledge in its brief.**® The United States is mistaken on two
points.

142. Firg, USDOC's leve of trade adjustments, which focus on different selling functions, do not
address differences in price comparability due to the resellers costs and profit. Without accounting
for such differences, USDOC does not reduce price to the ex-factory level — atask USDOC goes to
great lengths to accomplish on the export side when calculating constructed export price™*’ Because
USDOC ensures that al constructed export prices are ex-factory prices, any use of downstream sales
in the home market that does not incorporate deductions to reach an equivalent ex-factory price will
result in an "apples-to-oranges’ comparison. *°

143.  Second, USDOC received a specific request for alevel of trade adjustment to the downstream
resales USDOC used as a surrogate for NKK’s home market price’*® NKK noted the different sdlling
functions it performed for its direct customers as opposed to the customers of its affiliated resdller.**
USDOC did not grant the level of trade adjustment requested by NKK.*** So, USDOC did not even
apply its limited level of trade adjustment, thus making the "apples-to-oranges’ comparison more
severe.

143 See US First Submission, para. B-235.

144 Compare Antidumping Manual, ch. 8, at 2-4, 56 (Dep’'t Commerce 22 Jan. 1998) (excerpts attached
as Exh. JP-99) with US First Submission, para. B-235.

145 See Japan'’ s First Submission, para. 170.

146 s First Submission, para. B-236.

147 When the United States calculates constructed export price, it makes adjustments to the affiliate's
resale prices to reduce it to an ex-factory equivalent. 19 U.S.C. § 1677a(c)-(d) (excerpts attached as Exh. JP-
90(c)). Specifically, subsection (d)(1) reduces the export price to reflect all reseller costs, and subsection (d)(3)
reduces the export price to reflect the profit attributable to the reseller. No such adjustment is made by the
United States on the home market side when using downstream sales, unless the respondent successfully meets
the high US standard for a level of trade adjustment. 19 U.S.C. § 1677b(a)(7) (excerpts attached as Exh. JP-
90(d)). Even then, however, the adjustment does not reduce the price to an ex-factory level. Rather than
deducting all "expenses' as specified in Section 1677a(d)(1), Section 1677b(a)(7)(A) focuses on different
"selling activities' that are "demonstrated to affect price comparability.” Moreover, Section 1677b(a)(7)(A)
makes no provision for deductions for profit, nor does US practice.

148 See K orea's Third Party Submission, paras. 11.E.3, 11.F.1-4.

149 5ee USDOC Final Dumping Determination, 64 Fed. Reg. at 24339 (Exh. JP-12).

15014, at 24339-40 (Exh. JP-12).

1511d. at 24340 (Exh. JP-12).
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V1. CRITICAL CIRCUMSTANCES

144.  The United States made early decisions on critical circumstances to chase Japanese imports
from the market, and thus to placate domestic political pressures. Indeed, the new US policy was sold
to domestic congtituencies based precisely on this chilling effect. Given the normal operation of US
customs law, there was absolutely no need to rush anything to preserve the option to collect
retroactive duties, should they ultimately become necessary.™* The rush to judgment, long before the
authorities have any time to collect or analyze "sufficient evidence" to support such actions, violates
Article 10 of the AD Agreement.

145.  Moreover, the new US policy that has made this rush to judgment a regular feature of US
anti-dumping cases must be addressed by this Panel. The decisions at the end of an investigation
should not shield from review those violations of WTO obligations that occur earlier in the
investigation, particularly those violations that are likely to be repested in future cases if not
disciplined.

A. THE AUTHORITIES CANNOT PREDICATE A FINDING OF CRITICAL CIRCUMSTANCES ON
"THREAT OF INJURY"

146. The United States misreads Article 10.6 to alow "threat" of injury to substitute for current
injury. But the language of Article 10.6, the context of Article 10 more generaly, and the overal
purpose of retroactive duties all contradict this US interpretation.

147.  Article 10.6 means what its says. "injury,” and not threat of injury. The United States uses
Footnote 9 of Article 3 to claim that an affirmative finding of threat of injury is an affirmative finding
of injury pursuant to which retroactive duties may be assessed."™® As Japan explained in its First
Submission*** and in response to Panel Question 14, Footnote 9 cannot apply to "injury” as that term
isused in Article 10.6. Footnote 9 sets a general rule "unless otherwise specified." The language and
context of Article 10 generaly and Article 10.6 specifically represent such an "otherwise specified.”

148.  Consider for a moment the illogic if Footnote 9 were deemed to apply to Article 10.6. The
US reading of Article 10.6 would permit imposition of critical circumstances based on a finding a
threat of injury. Yet thisreading directly contradicts Article 10.4’ s requirement that in cases of threat,
duties can only be prospective. In context, it makes no sense for Article 10.6 to authorize what
Article 10.4 does not permit.

149.  Although the United States might turn to Article 10.2 as an exception to Article 10.4 alowing
some retroactive duties in cases of threat, this argument overlooks the situation of materia retardation
-- which is aso listed in Footnote 9. The United States cannot use Footnote 9 to add "threat of injury”
to Article 10.6 without also adding "materia retardation” to Article 10.6. Yet under Article 10.4, a
finding of materia retardation may never justify retroactive duties -- not duties during the period of
provisonal measures, and certainly not duties that go back 90 days prior to the start of provisiona
measures. The problem persists. it makes no sense for Article 10.6 to be read as authorizing what
Article 10.4 does not permit. Rather than this bizarre interpretation, the far more natura reading is
that Article 10.6 means what it says -- 'injury” means current injury, not threat of injury and not
material retardation. >°

152 See Japan’ s Response to Panel Question 16, para. 56.

153 See US First Submission, para. B-256.

154 Japan’ s First Submission, paras. 191-194.

155 Nor can the United States argue distinctions between preliminary and final determinations of critical
circumstances. The language of Article 10.6 does not mean different things at the preliminary and final stage --
the word "injury” does not change with the passage of few months. The requirements of Article 10.6 apply
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150.  The United States also argues the phrase "would cause injury” indicates that present injury is
not a requirement.®®  As Japan explained in response to Panel Question 14, the US interpretation is
incorrect as a matter of language as well as logic. As a matter of language, "would" is of course the
past tense of will and does not indicate future events®>” The US interpretation of "would cause
injury" to connote future events also would be inconsistent with the context of Article 10, with its
overal retrospective purpose. Article 10.6(i) smply cannot be read to describe future events, such as
the causation of injury, in light of the use of the present tense in virtually al other verbsin Article 10
relevant to the factual predicate for what the United States terms "critical circumstances,®

151.  Japan read the US response to Pandl Question 30 with interest, since Japan also was curious
why USDOC fet the need for more information if USITC's threat-of-injury determination was
sufficient to establish "injury” under Article 10.6(i). The only reason the United States identifies,
however, is a concern that the injury "may be less apparent to the importers' in light of USITC's
finding that there was not even a reasonable indication of present material injury.™ Japan certainly
shares this concern, but this US response does not answer the Panel’s question. Indeed, the US
response reinforces Japan's point that USITC's threat-of-injury finding undermines the basis for
concluding that importers, in the "here and now," should have known about dumping and injury.

B. USDOC’s EARLY PRELIMINARY DETERMINATION OF CRITICAL CIRCUMSTANCES IN THIS
INVESTIGATION VIOLATED THE AD AGREEMENT

152.  Articles 10.6 and 10.7 establish important limits on the ability of a WTO Member to
determine, in US nomenclature, that "critical circumstances' exist and retroactive duties may be
imposed. The United States has disregarded these limits, and rushed to judgment before it had
sufficient evidence to justify such an extreme action. None of the elements of Article 10.6 was
established to the degree required by Article 10.7; any one of these legal errors would be sufficient for
the Panel to find a violation of the AD Agreement. There was no finding that imports were
"dumped.” There was insufficient evidence that importers knew or should have known of dumping
and injury, only vague newspaper articles. There was no finding at all that imports were "likely to
serioudy undermine the remedia effect” of the duties. The evidence was not sufficient to support a
finding of "massive imports4,” since imports from Japan actually declined after the petition was filed.
Most troubling, the premature timing of the decision, mandated by USDOC's new policy bulletin,
guaranteed that sufficient evidence of the elements of Articles 10.6 would not exist.

153. As explained in Japan's Answers to Panel Questions 11 and 15, and in Japan's First
Submission, the basic problem is that USDOC simply accepted everything in the petition as the truth.
The United States now attempts to distance itself from this fact, but USDOC'’s contemporaneous
documentation proves Japan’s point. The preliminary determination of critical circumstances was, in
the words of the interna USDOC decisona memo, "{b}ased on alegations contained in the
petitions," and on nothing more.*®

consistently at both stages. The only differenceis the degree of evidence one has of those requirements at each
stage.

156 See US First Submission, para. B-274.

157 see generally New Shorter Oxford English Dictionary at 3687-88, 3725; William Strunk, Jr. & E.B.
White, The Elements of Style 64-65 (3d ed. 1979) (attached as Exh. JP-100).

158 See Japan’ s First Submission, paras. 190-196.

159 See US Response to Panel Question 30, para. 22.

160 Memorandum From Roland L. MacDonald and Edward C. Yang to Joseph A. Spetrini Regarding
Antidumping Duty Investigations of Certain Hot-Rolled Carbon Steel Flat Products from Japan and the Russian
Federation—Determination of Critical Circumstances, 23 Nov. 1998, at 1 (Exh. US/B-42) (hereinafter " Spetrini
Memo").
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1. There was no finding that imports were dumped

154.  As athreshold matter, Article 10.6(ii), and the chapeau of Article 10.6,'** require that the
imports in question be "dumped" before the authority can make a finding of critical circumstances.
There was no such finding at the time USDOC made its preliminary determination of critical
circumstances, and the United States does not even address this specific violation in its written
submission.

155.  The preliminary determination of dumping was not made until three months later. There was
not even any independent evidence of dumping -- apart from the self-serving alegations in the
petition -- when USDOC made its preliminary critical circumstances determination. Evidence of
dumping might exist if there were an independent assessment, but on this point USDOC's critical
circumstances analysis simply summarized the allegations in the petition.*®* "Alleged dumping" is
not sufficient to establish that the product was "dumped” for purposes of Article 10.6,"* as the United
States aeglears to acknowledge when arguing in the context of facts available that petitions are always
adverse.

2. Therewasinsufficient evidence of importer knowledge of dumping

156. There was insufficient evidence that importers should have been aware of dumping, a
requirement of Article 10.6(i)). USDOC's totd reiance on the petition is legaly insufficient.
USDOC specifically found "The most reasonable source of information concerning knowledge of
dumping is the petition itself."'®*® The United States is conspicuously slent as to this rather
remarkable conclusion. Why would an dlegation in a lawsuit be the 'most reasonable source of
information” about what other parties knew or should have known? How could any adjudication
system conclude that an dlegation by one side, standing aone, is the "most reasonable” indicator of
the truth?*®°

157.  Even the United States recognizes that the information in the petition at best tells only one
side of the story.'®” The US attempt to rationalize this assertion in response to Panel Question 32
fails. The United States notes that USDOC calculated a higher dumping margin for KSC than the
margins alleged in the petition. But the petition did not even calculate a margin for KSC, only for
NKK and NSC. Moreover, USDOC's find determination for KSC was distorted by the use of facts
available.

158.  Under its "25 percent test,” USDOC concluded that importers should have been aware that
they were dealing in dumped merchandise -- during a period severa months before the petition was
even filed -- solely because the petitioners subsequently alleged that dumping margins for NKK and
NSC exceeded 25 percent.®® As explained in Japan’s answer to Panel Question 11, this aone cannot

161 On this point, Japan concurs with the reasoning in Brazil’s Third Party Submission, para. 1V.3.

162 See Spetrini Memo, at 2 (Exh. US/B-42).

163 Compare Article 5 ("Initiation and Subsequent Investigation”) with Article 10.6. As Japan
explained in response to Question 11 from the Panel, the evidentiary standard for initiating an investigation does
not approach the evidentiary standard for substantive determinations.

164 US First Submission, para. B-72.

165 ySDOC Preliminary Critical Circumstances Determination, 63 Fed. Reg. at 65750 (Exh. JP-9).
See Spetrini Memo at 2 ("the Department has relied on margin information provided by petitioners in the
petition to impute knowledge of sales of subject merchandise at lessthan fair value") (Exh. US/B-42).

166 See United States—Measure Affecting Imports of Woven Wool Shirts and Blouses From India,
adopted 23 May 1997, WT/DS33/AB/R, at 14 ("{ W} efind it difficult, indeed, to see how any system of judicial
settlement could work if it incorporated the proposition that the mere assertion of a claim might amount to
proof.").

167 See US First Submission, para. B-72.

168 See US First Submission, para. B-269.
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congtitute sufficient evidence, because petitioners' alleged dumping margins are self-serving estimates
made without the benefit of the respondent’s internal sales data or any external anaysis by the
authorities.*®  This deficiency in petitioners data is underscored by the ultimate dumping
determination with respect to NKK and NSC once their information was placed on the record and
evaluated by USDOC. Ironically, USDOC then concluded that NKK and NSC -- the two companies
whose estimated margins formed the basis of the "25 percent tet" -- specifically did not dump by
margins exceeding 25 percent!’® The United States has emphasized the quantity of petitioners
alegations and newspaper articles, asif more inconclusive newspaper articles or longer allegations at
some point become proof.*”* They do not, as the USDOC analysis eventually showed.'"

159.  As Brazil notes in its third party submission, even an affirmative finding of dumping above
25 percent would not be sufficient evidence that importers knew or should have known that fact,
because importers rarely if ever know the price at which their foreign suppliers sell in their home
market (or whether such sales are above the cost of production).'”® The only response the United
States can muster is that the 25 percent test is a"permissible interpretation” of Article 10, because the
Agreement does not specify how authorities should determine importer knowledge of dumping.*™
This begs the question; however the United States might interpret the Agreement, it may not do so in
amanner that eviscerates the Article 10.7 requirement of "sufficient evidence.”

3. There was insufficient evidence that imports had injured the domestic industry

160.  Asdiscussed above, critical circumstances may not be applied when only a threat of materia
injury exists. In this case, USITC preiminarily found only a threat of material injury. USDOC,
therefore, had insufficient evidence on which to base a finding of materid injury, as required by
Articles 10.6(ii).

4, Therewasinsufficient evidence of importer knowledge of injury

161. There adso was insufficient evidence of importer knowledge that their purchases of the
dumped product would "cause injury”" to the US industry as required by Article 10.6(i). The
United States has attempted to bolster USDOC' s finding on this point with a detailed discussion of the
facts and the law, but the United States is wrong on both.

162.  On the facts, the United States insists importers knew or should have known of injury based
on the alegations in the petition, including the vague newspaper articles submitted by petitioners. As
discussed in Japan’s Answer to Panel Question 15, this argument is meritless based on the substance
and chronology of those articles. Other "evidence" of importer knowledge of present materia injury
included (1) the finding that there were "massive imports' during the earlier, arbitrary period
alegedly established by the newspaper articles, (2) the magnitude of the estimated dumping margins
aleged in the petition, and (3) "information regarding injury to the domestic industry in the petition
itself.""> In other words, the decision was based on nothing at all other than the petition and the
contrary conclusion by USITC that there was only a reasonable indication of threat of injury. This
basis is inherently insufficient.

169 japan notes that USDOC' s initiation checklist simply summarized the allegations in the petition, see
Initiation Checklist, at 62-63 (Exh. US/B-18), as did its internal "analysis' of the critical circumstances
allegation, see Spetrini Memo, at 2 (Exh. US/B-42).

170 ysDOC Final Dumping Determination, 64 Fed. Reg. at 24370 (Exh. JP-12).

171 See e.g., US First Submission, para. B-268 (“the approximately 700 pages of exhibits submitted
with the petition and the amendments thereto are not mere allegations -- they are evidence").

172 see Japan’ s Response to Panel Question 15, para. 54.

173 See Brazil’s Third Party Submission, para. IV.6.

174 See US First Submission, para. B-271.

175 Spetrini Memo, at 3 (Exh. US/B-42).
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163.  Notethat Article 10.6(i) is quite specific that dumping by the exporter must be causing injury.
Vague stories about troubles being experienced by the domestic industry, or vague references to
imports in general does not provide alegally sufficient basis to find that importers should have known
specific exporters or specific countries were the cause of aleged injury.*"

164.  Moreover, the United States admits that petitioner needed to wait for "sufficient evidence'
even to make an alegation.'”” Yet the United States still argues that months before the petition the
importers should have known about the injury. If petitioners, carefully studying the market to file a
case could not even credibly alege injury in early 1998, how could importers have been aware that
alleged dumping would cause injury?

5. Therewasno finding that importswere likely to seriously underminetheremedial effect
of any duty

165.  Contrary to Article 10.6(ii), USDOC did not address at all whether the imports were "likely to
serioudy undermine the remedia effect of the definitive anti-dumping duty to be applied.” The
United States does not even attempt to justify this failure apart from a conclusory assertion, without
any citation to the record in this investigation, that USDOC "plainly" considered this factor as an
"integral part" of its analysis.'”® USDOC did not do o, quite smply because it is not required to do
so0 by the US satute or policy bulletin, as explained in subpart C below addressing how US law is
inconsistent on its face with the Agreement”® By comparison, factors USITC typically considers in
determining whether the imports were "likely to seriously undermine the remedia effect” include
subject import volumes before and after the filing of the petition, trends in subject import pricing data,
and inventory levels.*®® USDOC, however, considered none of these factors.®*

166.  The magnitude of this oversight emerges from the illogic of the USDOC position. USDOC
identified a surge in imports from a much earlier period of time to avoid the inconvenient fact that
imports at the time of the petition were falling. USDOC then implicitly jumps to a future period to

178 Once one looks carefully behind the US allegations that hundreds of pages of evidence supported
the USDOC conclusions, it becomes apparent the US argument is an extreme exaggeration. USDOC identified
24 media reports that ostensibly supported its preliminary finding of critical circumstances. Spetrini Memo, at
7-9 (Exh. US/B42). Of these 24, however, only 6 mention Japan at al; as the Spetrini Memo itself
acknowledges the remainder are either general comments about imports, or articles that discuss other import
sources. Of these 6 articles mentioning Japan, only 3 articles appear to mention hot-rolled steel. One of these
three, however, is inaccurately described in the Spetrini Memo as having to do with hot-rolled steel -- the
interview of Hank Barnette on CNN did not mention hot-rolled steel at all, and discussed only general steel
developments. Transcript #98073003FN-L02, of CNNFN: Before Hours (30 July 1998) (attached as Exh. JP-
91). Moreover, of these 6 articles mentioning Japan, 2 of them came in late September just as the petition was
about to be filed. The entire US case of "sufficient evidence" with respect to Japan thus collapses to two
isolated reports -- one from a British consulting firm CRU International, and another from an obscure
publication called the Tex Report, published in Japan in English. In each case, the reference to hot-rolled steel
from Japan occupies one or two sentences in a multi-page report covering a variety of other topics. The US
argument is that a stray sentence or two in publications, no matter how obscure, represents sufficient evidence
that importers should have been aware that alleged dumping of hot-rolled steel was injuring the US industry.
This claim is absurd.

Y7 US First Submission, para. B-278.

17814, para. B-280.

179 See also Spetrini Memo, at 1 (summarizing statutory factors USDOC was considering, and omitting
thisone) (Exh. US/B-42).

180 5ee @9, USITC Final Injury Determination, USITC Pub. 3202, at 21-23 (Exh. JP-14).

181 See Spetrini Memo, at 2-4 (Exh. US/B-42). The Memo did cite "falling domestic prices resulting
from rising imports,” but this was based on the selected newspaper articles rather than USITC's pricing data,
and it was during "early to mid-1998," not during a period in which imports could have seriously undermined
the effect of an eventual order.
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allege without any analysis that imports will undermine the remedia effect of the order. The USDOC
cannot have it both ways.

6. I nappropriate measurement period for " massive imports'

167.  The final factud predicate for a finding of critical circumstances is "massive imports of the
subject merchandise over a reatively short period,"*®* which is how the US statute paraphrases
Article 10.6(ii). Given the fact that imports from Japan actually declined after the petition was filed
and after initiation, which were the periods USDOC aways examined until this investigation,'®® there
was no sufficient evidence of this point.

168.  The United States mischaracterizes Japan’s argument by claiming Japan does not actually
question the sufficiency of the evidence, but rather why the period was different from usual.'®** There
should be no misunderstandings: the use of an arbitrary measurement period undermines the
sufficiency of the evidence. USDOC's selection of a measurement period that would best support its
preordained conclusion (i.e., that imports were massive in a short period of time) on the bass of
nothing but petitioners allegations and vague newspaper articles is an example of bias and
unreasonableness in the collection and evaluation of evidence. The United States attempts to justify
the use of this earlier period by claiming that the petitioners decision to wait until they had sufficient
evidence before filing the petition should not deprive them of their remedy against a massive surge of
dumped imports.*®®> But there must be a neutral, transparent period within which USDOC objectively
measures the growth in imports. It cannot be whichever period best supports the petitioners’ case, as
USDOC did here.

169.  The United States also overlooks the illogic of its position. The purpose of the 90-day period
is to catch sudden surges triggered by the petition. It makes no sense to look months before the
petition to find a surge, overlook a post petition decline, and then assert the need to invoke provisional
measures retroactively by 90 days to place duties on those aready declining imports.

7. Thetiming of the decision guaranteed that sufficient evidence would not exist

170. Asexplained in Japan’'s answers to Panel Questions, the magjor flaw in USDOC’ s preliminary
determination of critical circumstances in this case is that the determination was made too early.
USDOC traditionally waits until the preliminary determination of dumping to make its preliminary
critical circumstances determinations, but changed its practice during the investigation of hot-rolled
steel from Japan to provide that critical circumstances determinations should be made "as soon as
possible after initiation.®® By requiring the decision to be made "as soon as possible” USDOC
systematically prevented its determination from being made on the basis of "sufficient evidence' as
required by Articles 10.6 and 10.7 of the AD Agreement.

171.  The United States has attempted to justify its new policy requiring premature findings by
noting that Article 10.7 does not require USDOC to wait for the preliminary determination of
dumping.*®”  True; but that was never precisely Japan's argument. The AD Agreement requires
USDOC to make its determination of critical circumstances only on the basis of "sufficient evidence,”
and USDOC lacked the evidence in this investigation when it rendered its determination so soon after
initiation. There may be instances in which USDOC could make the decision early, but not without

182 Section 733(€)(1)(B), 19 U.S.C. § 1673b(e)(1)(B) (Exh. JP-4(b)).

183 See Japan'’ s First Submission, para. 204.

184 See US First Submission, para. B-275.

185 See US First Submission, para. B-278.

186 YsDOC Critical Circumstances Policy Bulletin, 63 Fed. Reg. at 55364 (Exh. JP-3).
187 US First Submission, para. B-244.
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establishing, on the basis of sufficient evidence, al the elements required by Article 10.6. The
petition aoneis never "sufficient evidence."

172.  The United States aso makes the baffling claim that USDOC simply cannot wait to make its
preliminary critical circumstances finding until there is any evidence other than the petition because
the delay would jeopardize the remedia purpose®® As Japan explained in response to Pane
Question 16, the US Customs Service does not finaize duty liability until approximately 314 days
after entry.™®® There will be plenty of time — over ten months — to determine the final duty liability
of the affected entries without any risk that those entries will escape the liability. But rather than
recognizing the ordinary operation of US customs law, the United States rushed to judgment. If the
factstruly justified critical circumstance there would be plenty of time, but the United States could not
be bothered to wait for sufficient evidence.

C. THEUS LAW, ON ITSFACE, VIOLATES THE AD AGREEMENT
1. The US distinction between " mandatory" and " discretionary” lawsis contrived

173.  Severa of the problems with the specific application of "critical" circumstances in this case
reflect underlying defects in the US statute and how it has been interpreted by USDOC. The United
States tries to avoid this problem bg/ invoking the mandatory/discretionary distinctions explored by the
GATT Pand in U.S—Tobacco.® According to the United States, "{a} law is not, on its face,
inconsistent with a WTO Agreement unless it mandates actions that are inconsistent with that
Agreement."*®*  The United States has invoked U.S—Tobacco repeatedly in other WTO Panel
proceedings, and this attempt to misuse that decision must fail just as surely as the others did.

174.  First and foremogt, the US law and practice governing preliminary determinations of critical
circumstances is indeed mandatory. Under Article 10, the United States must not find critical
circumstances unless the elements established in that Article are met. In Section 733(e),"** however,
USDOC is directed to determine preliminarily ("shall promptly . . . determine") whether critical
circumstances exist under a much lower evidentiary standard and without finding certain essential
elements of Article 10. In addition, the Policy Bulletin squarely states, "Commerce should issue its
preliminary finding on critical circumstances before the preliminary determination, and also as soon
as possible after initiation."** The United States has confirmed to the Panel that the Policy Bulletin
establishes a practice "for al ongoing and future cases.™® This is a mandatory practice subject to a
prima facie challenge under the AD Agreement.'*®

175.  Second, the GATT Panel in U.S—Tobacco dealt with very different facts from those before
this Panel. The text of the law in question in the U.S—Tobacco case was ambiguous, and it had not
yet even been applied. These circumstances led the Pand to give the United States the benefit of the
doubt.®® In contrast, the US statute and USDOC Policy Bulletin pertaining to preliminary

188 See US First Submission, para. B-266; see also US Response to Panel Question 32, para. 27.

189 see Memo from Director, Office of Trade Compliance, File ENT-1 FO:TC:C:E AD (26 May 1997),
available at www.cebb.customs.treas.gov/public (Exh. JP-80).

190 gee US First Submission, paras. B-283 to B-284 (citing generally United States—Measures
Affecting the Importation, Internal Sale and Use of Tobacco, adopted 4 Oct. 1994, BISD 415/131) ("U.S—
Tobacco").

191 YS First Submission, para. B-283.

192 codified at 19 U.S.C. § 1673b(e) (Exh. JP-4(b)).

193 YsSDOC Critical Circumstances Policy Bulletin, 63 Fed. Reg. at 55364 (Exh. JP-3).

194 Us Response to Panel Question 26, para. 14.

195 Cf. United States—Sections 301-310 of the Trade Act of 1974, adopted 27 Jan. 2000, WT/DS152/R,
at para. 7.97 ("U.S.—Section 301").

196 y.s—Tobacco, para. 123.
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determinations  of criticd circumstances have been applied repeatedly, including in this
investigation.**’

176.  These features bring this case closer to U.S—Section 301 and U.S— 1916 Act,**® two recent
Panel decisions that squarely rejected US attempts to analogize U.S—Tobacco. The Pand in U.S—
Section 301 persuasively explained why statutes must be read in light of their interpretation by
agencies.

Frequently the Legidator itself does not seek to contral, through statute, all covered
conduct. Instead it delegates to pre-existing or specidly created administrative
agencies or other public authorities, regulatory and supervisory tasks which are to be
administered according to certain criteria and within discretionary limits set out by
the Legidator . . . . The elements of this type of nationa law are . . . often
inseparable and should not be read independently from each other when evaluating
the overall conformity of the law with WTO obligations. For example, even though
the statutory language granting specific powers to a government agency may be
prima facie consistent with WTO rules, the agency responsible, within the discretion
given to it, may adopt internal criteria or administrative procedures inconsistent

with WTO obligations which would, as a result, render the overall law in violation . .
199

Therefore, the Policy Bulletin must form an essential part of the Panel’s review of Japan’ sprima facie
challenge to the US practice. Japan need only demonstrate the practice that has developed, and how it
is inconsistent with the Agreement, for the Panel to review the US practice for conformity with the
Agreement *®°

177.  Findly, the pre-Uruguay Round Panel reports, such asU.S.? Tobacco, have limited relevance
in disputes concerning the conformity of a Member’s laws with GATT 1994 and the Uruguay Round
Agreements. Article XVI:4 of the Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization provides:
"Each Member shal ensure the conformity of its laws, regulations and administrative procedures with
its obligations as provided in the annexed Agreements.”” "Legidation may thus breach WTO
obligations."***  Whether a particular piece of legidation is "mandatory” or "discretionary” is not the
principa issue in evauating whether on its face it is consistent with the WTO Agreements. Instead,
the approach is to "examine with care the nature of the WTO obligation at issue and to evaluate the
Measure in question in the light of such examination."*

2. The US law does not meet the requirements of Article 10

178.  The deficiencies of Section 733(e) of the Tariff Act of 1930°* fall into two categories: (a)
elements of Article 10 that are totally absent, and (b) elements of Article 10 that are substantidly
weakened in the US statute. These defects are reinforced by the Policy Bulletin, which ensures that
preliminary determinations of critical circumstances will never be made on the basis of the
requirements of Articles 10.6 and 10.7.

197 5ee US Response to Panel Question 26, paras. 14-15.

198 United States—Anti-Dumping Act of 1916 (Complaint by the European Communities), Report of the
Panel, 31 Mar. 2000, WT/DS136/R, at para. 6.86-6.88, aff'd, Report of the Appellate Body, 28 Aug. 2000,
WT/DS136/AB/R & WT/DS162/AB/R, at para. 93 ("U.S—1916 Act").

199 y.s—Section 301, paras. 7.25-7.27 (emphasis added).

200 5—1916 Act, para. 6.88.

201 |y, S—Section 301, para. 7.42.

202 .S —Section 301, para. 7.53.

203 Codified at 19 U.S.C. § 1673b(e) (Exh. JP-4(b)).
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(b) Absent findings

179.  Article 10.6 requires a determination "for the dumped product in question” that "the injury {if
any} is caused by massive dumped imports." Section 733(e)(1)(B), in contrast, requires only that
"there have been massive imports' and there is no requirement anywhere in the statute that the
imports be "dumped.” This prong of the US statute thus looks only to an increase in the volume of
imports. Unlike the corresponding section of the AD Agreement, the US statute does not require that
the massive imports be determined to have been dumped or to have caused injury. This defect is
reinforced by the Policy Bulletin, which directs USDOC to make its "preliminary finding on critical
circumstances before the preliminary determination { of dumping} ."%*

180. Moreover, at the preliminary stage, US law provides for no finding at al that the massive
dumped imports are "likely to serioudy undermine the remedia effect.” Article 10.6 requires
authorities to "determine for the dumped product in question that . . . the volume of the dumped
imports and other circumstances (such as a rapid build-up of inventories of the imported product) is
likely to serioudy undermine the remedial effect of the definitive anti-dumping duty to be applied.”
There is no corresponding requirement at all in Section 733(e). At the preliminary stages, the US
statute does not even require a "reasonable basis to believe or suspect” this element. Only in the
statute governing final determinations is there a requirement that an authority make the determination
whether the imports "are likely to undermine seriously the remedia effect” of the duties®®® (This
statute requires such determination to be made by the USITC, not USDOC.)

181.  Notwithstanding the total absence of any finding that the "massive imports' were "dumped"
or that they are "likely to seriously undermine the remedial effect” of the duty, the United States
claims such findings are implicit in USDOC's ultimate finding that critical circumstances exist.”*®
The United States does not respond at dl to the point about the absence of any finding that the
"massive imports' were dumped, apart from claiming that its "25 percent test” demonstrates that the
imports were dumped.”®” Buit this test asks a different question—whether the importers should have
known about dumping, rather than whether the massive imports injuring the US industry during the
short period were dumped. More importantly, as illustrated by the investigation of hot-rolled steel
from Japan, USDOC apparently considers mere allegations of dumping in excess of 25 percent to be
"evidence" of dumping; as demonstrated above and in Japan’s First Submission,?”® mere alegations
are not sufficient evidence of dumping.

182.  Asto the point about undermining the remedia effect, the United States claims that element
exists because that phrase appears once in a policy bulletin and because USDOC "specificaly looks to
the timing and volume of the dumped imports to determine whether critical circumstances exist."*%
The United States is being glib: the US statute does not require USDOC to determine that the imports
were dumped for purposes of the preliminary determination of critical circumstances, and merely
examining the timing and volume of the imports does not address whether the remedy is being
undermined seriously by the dumped imports. For example, if the US industry was not in fact injured
by the imports during the measurement period, then a smple growth in imports would not undermine
serioudly the duty. Yet that growth doneisdl the US statute requires.

204 USDOC Critical Circumstances Policy Bulletin, 63 Fed. Reg. at 55364 Exh. JP-3) (emphasis
added).
" as Section 735(b)(4)(A) (19 U.S.C. § 1673d(b)(4)(A)) (Exh. JP-4(c)).
208 See US First Submission, paras. B-281, B-287.
207 See US First Submission, para. B-285.
298 See Japan'’ s First Submission, paras. 197-207.
209 See US First Submission, para. B-281 (emphasis added).
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(c) Insufficient findings

183. US law aso contains an impermissibly wesk standard of evidence. Article 10.7 requires
"sufficient evidence" of the elements of Article 10.6. The United States makes the astonishing
argument that its statute — requiring only a "reasonable basis to believe or suspect” — is equivalent
to Article 10.7’s requirement of sufficient evidence®® The principa basis for this assertion is the use
of the phrase "sufficient evidence" in proximity to "reasonable basis to believe or suspect” in USDOC
critical circumstances determinations in just two anti-dumping investigations.”** It is clear, however,
that USDOC is asking itsdlf a different question than Article 10.7 contemplates. It is one thing to
have "sufficient evidence" that an element of Article 10.6 truly exists, it is quite another to have
"sufficient evidence" of only a "reasonable basis to believe or suspect” that an element of Article 10.6
exists. This distinction appears to be totaly lost on the United States, which has laden its response to
Panel Question 31 with quotations (from US court cases and countervailing-duty determinations)
discussing this second, lower standard.”*?

184.  The differences are red, as illustrated by the ordinary meanings of the words used. New
Shorter Oxford English Dictionary first defines "sufficient" as "legaly satisfactory,” citing its origin
in law. "Evidence" in that dictionary, is broken into two categories. "generd” and "legal." The
general definition includes "{f}acts or testimony in support of a conclusion, statement, or belief. . . .
Something serving as proof.” The lega definition of the word "evidence" is "{i} nformation . . .
tending or used to establish facts in alega investigation." In contrast, Section 733(€) requires only a
"reasonable basis to believe or suspect” certain elements. "Reasonable” is defined in the New Shorter
Oxford English Dictionary as "{w}ithin the limits of reason; not greatly less or more than might be
thought likely or appropriate, moderate.” To "believe" is defined as to "{ h}ave confidence or faith
in," to 'trust,” and to 'hold an opinion, think." (Emphasis added.) The verb to "suspect” means to
"{i} magine something evil, wrong, or undesirable in (a person or thing) on little or no evidence;
believe to be guilty with insufficient proof or knowledge." (Emphasis added.)

185. Thus what is "reasonable” is not "sufficient.” "Sufficient” is a standard: whatever is enough
to satisfy a lega test. "Reasonable” is a range, which can be "less or more than might be thought
likely or appropriate.” And what one "believes or suspects' is not necessarily "evidence." "Evidence"
is proof. "Believe or suspect” describes a range much less than proof. "Suspect” is in fact flatly
incompatible with evidence; it is instructive that the definition of "suspect” includes "{i} magine
something evil, wrong, or undesirable . . . on little or no evidence, believe to be guilty with
insufficient proof or knowledge." "Believe" is mere trust or confidence. That does not reflect the
factual inquiry required to establish "proof.” USDOC is essentially directed by the statute to decide
that critical circumstances exist on mere suspicion or belief, without any rea evidence.

Vil.  CAPTIVE PRODUCTION

186. The United States attempts to rewrite the captive production provision, but ultimately cannot
paper over the fundamenta violations of the AD Agreement engendered by both the provision on its
face and its application in this case. When applicable, the statute on its face compels the USITC to
focus its analysis primarily on market share and financial performance in the merchant market
segment without relating its findings to the domestic industry as a whole. Articles 3 and 4, as
interpreted by numerous panel reports, permits authorities to conduct a segmented analysis only when

210 5ee US First Submission , paras. B-288 to B-290. Indeed, the United States goes so far as to claim
that the two standards can be correctly used "interchangeably.” US Response to Panel Question 31, para. 23.

211 See US First Submission, para. B-290, US/B-46 & US/B-47; US Response to Panel Question 31,
para. 24 n.6.

21